Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-4-2017 9:30 AM

Characterization of Hemangioma-initiating Stem Cells

Natalie Montwill The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Zia Khan *The University of Western Ontario*

Graduate Program in Pathology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Natalie Montwill 2017

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Congenital, Hereditary, and Neonatal Diseases and Abnormalities Commons

Recommended Citation

Montwill, Natalie, "Characterization of Hemangioma-initiating Stem Cells" (2017). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4873. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4873

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Infantile hemangioma (IH) is the most common vascular tumour of infancy. IH undergoes a unique life cycle consisting of robust endothelial cell proliferation and vessel formation in the proliferating phase, followed by spontaneous regression in the involuting phase. Our laboratory has shown that IH arises from multipotential stem cells termed hemangioma stem cells (HemSCs). However, the phenotype of HemSCs has not been fully elucidated. Here, I examined HemSCs and compared these lesion-derived cells to a panel of normal counterparts. My results show that HemSCs share similar gene expression profiles with human fetal liver-derived stem cells (FLSCs) and postnatal bone marrow mesenchymal/mesodermal progenitor cells (BM-MPCs). Specifically, all three precursor cell types expressed endothelial, mesenchymal, stem/progenitor, and hematopoietic lineage genes to varying degrees. Furthermore, for the first time, I show that proliferating IH lesions are immunoreactive to markers associated with hematopoiesis; namely, RUNX1, GATA2, GPR56, CD45 and CD150. However, HemSCs failed to produce hematopoietic colonies when assessed using in vitro hematopoietic activity assays. Taken together, my studies suggest that HemSCs express hematopoiesis-specific markers but their ability to undergo hematopoiesis is suppressed. Although my findings have provided greater characterization of HemSCs, more studies are needed to fully understand the mechanisms that regulate HemSC differentiation paths, and ultimately IH pathogenesis.

Keywords: infantile hemangioma, hemangioma stem cells, fetal liver stem cells, bone marrow progenitor cells, hematopoiesis, endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition

Co-Authorship Statement

All work shown in this document was performed by Natalie Montwill. Dr. Zia A. Khan contributed to the experimental design and data interpretation.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Zia Khan for taking me in and for his mentorship in my last year of graduate studies. Starting fresh in a new lab was not easy; however, I have learned more under your guidance the past few months than I have had in any other period of my academic career. Allowing me to become part of your "dysfunctional family" (a term that I agree fit our lab perfectly) has exposed me not only to a healthy work environment, but also to a new and exciting field of research that I'm excited to learn more about. Furthermore, your kindness and refreshing attitude towards research has helped me overcome many personal barriers and enjoy research again. Though I may not have shown it, you have helped me regain much of my confidence as a scientist. Thank you for your patience, for always having faith in me, and for helping me realize that science truly can and should be, as you would often say, fun.

Next, I'd like to thank my family and friends for their unrelenting support the past 3 years. Your encouragement and loyalty, despite becoming a hermit and being incredibly bad at keeping in touch, has meant more to me than I could ever express.

And finally, I would like to thank my best friend and boyfriend, Calvin Gia-Minh Pham, for being the driving force behind all of this. I don't know how far I would have come had it not been for your patience, love, and unlimited comic relief. Thank you for always pushing me forward, and for being there for me through all the blood, sweat, and tears. I love you.

Abstract	i
Co-Authorshi	p Statementii
Acknowledgn	nentsiii
Table of Cont	entsiv
List of Tables	
List of Figure	s vii
List of Abbrev	viations viii
Chapter 1	
1 INTRODU	ICTION1
1.1 Infanti	le hemangioma1
1.1.1	Diagnosis and treatment of IHs
1.1.2	Cellular components of IHs
1.1.3	Signaling pathways in IHs7
1.1.4	Current theories on the origin of IH9
1.2 Develo	opment of the circulatory system
1.2.1	Origins of hematopoietic progenitors 11
1.2.2	Regulators of hematopoiesis
1.3 Organ	s involved in vascular development16
1.3.1	The fetal liver
1.3.2	The bone marrow
1.3 Rationa	ale
1.4 Hypoth	nesis
1.4.1 \$	Specific Aims
Chapter 2	

Table of Contents

2	Mat	terials and Methods	21
	2.1	IH cell culture	21
	2.2	RNA isolation and RT-PCR	22
	2.3	Immunofluorescent cell staining	25
	2.4	IH specimens and immunostaining	27
	2.5	Differentiation assays	28
	2.6	Statistical analysis	28
Cł	napte	ет 3	30
3	Res	ults	30
	3.1	Transcript profiling reveals multilineage priming of IH-derived stem cells	30
	3.2	IH stem cells express hematopoietic-lineage proteins	36
	3.3	IH blood vessels express hematopoietic stem cell markers	39
	3.4	IH stem cells lack hematopoietic differentiation ability in vitro	50
Cł	napte	er 4	55
4	Cor	nclusions	55
	4.1	Discussion	55
	4.2	Limitations	59
	4.3	Future Directions	60
Re	efere	nces	62
Cı	irric	ulum Vitae	85

List of Tables

Table 2.1 List of primers used for RT-PCR.	. 23
1	
Table 2.2 Primary antibodies used for immunofluorescence staining	. 26

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The life cycle of IH	2
Figure 1.2 The heptad transcription factors control fate-determination of HSCs 15	5
Figure 1.3 Stepwise migration of the hemangioblast during embryogenesis, potentially	h
	J
Figure 3.1 Expression of pluripotency-associated genes in IH stem cells	2
Figure 3.2 Detection of mesenchymal- and endothelial cell-selective genes in HemSCs 33	3
Figure 3.3 Expression of genes associated with hematopoiesis and EHT	5
Figure 3.4 Immunofluorescence staining for markers associated with hematopoiesis and	_
EHT in HemSC	7
Figure 3.5 Fluorescence intensity analysis of hematopoietic and EHT antigens	3
Figure 3.6 ECs in IH specimens express HSC markers CD45 and CD150	1
Figure 3.7 RUNX1, GATA2 and GPR56 expression in IH specimens	3
Figure 3.8 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of placenta specimens	1
Figure 3.9 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of pyogenic granuloma	5
Figure 3.10 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of human adult skin	3
Figure 3.11 HemSCs are able to differentiate into adipocytes similar to BM-MPCs	2
Figure 3.12 Induction of adipogenesis-specific transcription factors in HemSCs upon	
differentiation	3
Figure 3.13 HemSCs are unable to form hematopoietic colonies <i>in vitro</i>	1

List of Abbreviations

α-SMA	Alpha-smooth muscle actin	
AGM	Aorta-gonad-mesonephros	
ALCAM	Activated leukocyte adhesion molecule	
APC	Activated protein C	
BFU	Blast forming unit	
BM	Bone marrow	
BMP	Bone morphogenetic factor	
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein	
CD	Cluster of differentiation	
CD133	Cluster of differentiation 133, Prominin-1	
c-KIT	Tyrosine-protein kinase Kit	
CVS	Chorionic villus sampling	
CXCL	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand	
D3	Type III iodothyronine deiodinase	
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole	
DPPA4	Developmental pluripotency associated 4	
E	Embryonic day	
EBM-2	Endothelial basal media-2	
EC	Endothelial cell	
ECFC	Endothelial colony forming cell	
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	
EHT	Endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition	
EndMT	Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition	
ENG	Endoglin	
EPC	Endothelial progenitor/precursor cell	
ERG	ERG, ETS transcription factor	
ES	Embryonic stem cell	
ES-BCs	Embryonic stem cell-derived blast cells	

ETV6	ETS variant 6	
FABP4	Fatty acid binding protein 4	
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor	
FL	Fetal liver	
FLI1	Fli-1 proto-oncogene	
FLK1	Fetal liver kinase-1 (Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2)	
FLSC	Fetal liver stem cell	
FLT1	Fms related tyrosine kinase 1 (Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor	
	1)	
GATA	GATA binding protein (Globin transcription factor)	
GDF3	Growth differentiation factor 3	
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1	
GPR56	G protein-coupled receptor 56	
GSC	Glioblastoma stem-like cells	
HE	Hemogenic endothelium	
HemEC	Infantile hemangioma-derived endothelial cell	
HemPER	Infantile hemangioma-derived pericyte	
HemSC	Infantile hemangioma-derived stem cell	
HIF-1a	Hypoxia inducible factor-1a	
HPC	Hematopoietic progenitor cell	
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell	
HSPC	Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell	
IAC	Intra-aortic clusters	
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-deoxygenase	
IFN	Interferon	
IH	Infantile hemangioma	
KDR	Kinase insert domain receptor (Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor	
	2)	
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein	
LEFTY1	Left-right determination factor 1	

LEP	Leptin
LMO2	LIM domain only 2
LT-HSC	Long-term hematopoietic stem cells
LYL1	Lymphoblastic leukemia associated hematopoiesis regulator 1
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MNC	Mononuclear cell
MPC	Mesenchymal progenitor/precursor cell
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell/Mesenhymal stromal cell
NANOG	Nanog homeobox
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NG2	Nerve/glial antigen 2
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor
NT5E	5`-nucleotidase
OCT4/POUF5	Octomer-binding transcription factor 4
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PDGFR	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor
PHACES	Posterior fossa-hemangiomas-arterial lesions/anomalies-cardiac defects-
	eye abnormalities-sternal cleft and supraumbilical raphe syndrome
PODXL	Podocalyxin like
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
PSF	Penicillin-streptomycin-funizone
PTPRC	Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor C
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RUNX	Runt related transcription factor
SC	Stem cell
SCA1	Spinocerebellar ataxia 1
SCF	Stem cell factor
SCL/TAL1	Stem cell protein/T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia protein 1
SDF-1a	Stromal cell-derived factor-1a

SOX2	Sex determining region Y-box 2
TBX2	T-box transcription factor 2
TEM8	Tumor endothelial marker 8
TF	Transcription factor
TGF	Transforming growth factor
THY	Thy-1 cell surface antigen
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
Ulex	Ulex europaeus 1
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VE-Cadherin	Vascular endothelial-Cadherin (also known as Cadherin 5)
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFA	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
vWF	von Willebrand Factor
YS	Yolk sac
ZFP42	Zinc-finger protein 42

Chapter 1

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Infantile hemangioma

Infantile hemangioma (IH) is the most common vascular tumour of infancy, affecting approximately 5-10% of newborns each year.¹⁻³ Although the mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of IH are currently unknown, there is a higher incidence rate associated with infants that are female, Caucasian, born prematurely and with a low birth weight.⁴⁻⁸ The majority of IH lesions are found in the head and neck regions, followed by the trunk and extremities.⁹

IHs are assessed clinically based on how deep they reside in the dermis or subcutaneous tissue (as in, superficial, deep or combined), as well as their anatomical distribution.^{10,11} The majority of IHs are localized, arising from a single focal point. Segmental IHs are distributed throughout a larger area. Lesions that are neither completely localized nor segmental are called indeterminate, and those that appear in multiple anatomic regions are known as multifocal.^{12,13} Based on their anatomical location, multifocal IHs can be indicative of complications associated with other parts of the body. For example, large, segmental, facial IHs can be an indication of PHACES syndrome (Posterior fossahemangiomas–arterial lesions/anomalies–cardiac defects–eye abnormalities–sternal cleft and supraumbilical raphe syndrome).¹⁴ Additionally, the presence of multiple cutaneous lesions can be indicative of hepatic IH,¹⁵ which is the most common site of visceral IHs.¹⁶ Despite the benign nature of IH, lesions can arise in areas that can cause functional impairment, such as in the lip or nose, or life-threatening complications, such as in the liver and trachea.^{13,15}

Usually, no signs of IH are present at birth. Rather, lesions appear weeks to months postnatally within the first year of life¹⁷ and then progress through a unique life cycle consisting of three phases: proliferation, involution, and then the involuted phase (Figure 1.1). In the first phase, endothelial cells (ECs) rapidly proliferate to form an immature

vascular network.^{13,18} Histologically, ECs appear enlarged and are surrounded by plump pericytes, and cellular proliferation markers are prominent.¹³ IHs will typically remain in this phase for up to 1 year, after which ECs will show a flattened morphology and vessels will attain a more mature appearance, thus entering the involuting phase. During this time, apoptosis offsets cellular proliferation and contributes to IH regression.¹⁹ This period will persist for 3 to 5 years before entering the involuted phase, in which blood vessels are replaced by fibroadipose tissue.²⁰ Most tumours almost completely regress by 8 years of age, leaving a fibrofatty residuum or scar depending on the size and behaviour of the IH.¹⁵



Figure 1.1 The life cycle of IH.

Schematic diagram depicting the three stages of IH. The proliferating phase begins within the first few weeks after birth and is characterized by rapidly-proliferating ECs and recruitment of pericytes. Newly-formed blood vessels are disorganized and immature, until pericytes and basal membrane components stabilize the vasculature. After about one year, the IH lesion begins to involute. Cellularity diminishes through apoptosis, and remaining cells commence differentiation into adipocytes. By 8 years of age, most, if not all, of the vasculature is replaced by fibrofatty tissue. EC = endothelial cell; PER = pericyte; BMC = basement membrane component; AD = apoptotic debris; FIB = fibrous tissue; ADIP = adipocyte

1.1.1 Diagnosis and treatment of IHs

Vascular 'birthmarks' are commonly encountered in children and are classified as IHs or vascular malformations. In contrast to IHs, vascular malformations are not neoplasms but rather, permanent developmental abnormalities of capillaries, veins, arteries or lymphatic vessels. The most commonly used diagnostic/confirmation tool for IH is endothelial glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1) immunohistochemical staining. GLUT1 is an erythrocyte-type transporter that is expressed by hemangioma endothelium in all three phases of IH development. Normally, endothelial GLUT1 expression is restricted to microvessels in placenta as well as those with blood-tissue barrier function. For this reason, GLUT1 staining has become the gold standard for IH diagnosis.²¹

Given the unique ability of IH lesions to regress on their own, practitioners will often leave lesions untreated, though the size and nature of the lesion does not predict its outcome. Up to 20% of IHs result in complications such as ulceration or functional impairment (both of which are potentially life-threatening), or permanent disfigurement.²² Furthermore, 40-80% of cases will leave a permanent residual mark.^{23,24} Faint traces of vasculature may be present if vessels did not regress completely, and ulcerated lesions tend to leave discoloration or scars.^{25,26} For these reasons, early therapeutic intervention is recommended to reduce pain, prevent complications from developing and to avoid potential psychosocial effects.

Currently, the first-line therapy for treating IH lesions is propranolol, a ß-adrenergic receptor blocker. Discovered serendipitously for its antiproliferative effects on IH,²⁷ it has been shown to be clinically superior compared to other therapeutic options in terms of resolution rate and reports of adverse effects.^{28,29} Although the definite mechanism of action of propranolol in IH regression is not known, it has been suggested to involve

vasoconstriction, inhibition of angiogenesis, as well as induction of apoptosis.³⁰ When treated with propranolol, patients experience a visible colour change in their IHs within 1-3 days. This is due to inhibition of the B1- and B2-adrenergic receptors found on ECs, which results in vessel constriction and subsequently reduced blood flow to IH lesions.²⁷ Propranolol also suppresses production of proangiogenic factors implicated in proliferating IHs, such as vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) 2 and 9.³¹ These effects and the fact that it acts on many cell types that comprise IH (specifically ECs, stem cells, and pericytes) has resulted in a decrease in the use of other treatments and dampened efforts to discover new options. However, in rare cases where propranolol does not reduce the IH lesion and/or serious adverse effects are observed, alternative therapies may be considered. Currently, these alternative therapies include corticosteroids, topical β -blockers and pulsed dye laser therapy.³²⁻³⁴ Occasionally, surgery will be used if the patient does not respond to pharmacotherapy. Other indications for surgical excision include obstruction caused by the lesion, deformation, bleeding or ulceration, lack of response to medical or laser therapy and redundant residual tissue left after IH involution.^{22,25} Since these treatments present a much higher likelihood of producing adverse effects in comparison to propranolol however, they are no longer recommended as a standard for managing IH.²²

1.1.2 Cellular components of IHs

IHs are predominantly composed of ECs surrounded by perivascular cells known as pericytes. As the IH progresses through its three characteristic phases, organization of the IH endothelium changes dramatically. During this time, various endothelial cell surface markers such as CD31, CD34, CD146, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2), vascular endothelial-cadherin (VE-CADH), and von Willebrand factor (vWF) are highly expressed.^{20,21} In addition, studies have shown that ECs derived from proliferating IHs exhibit increased proliferation and migration *in vitro*.^{23,25,26} This altered behavior has led to the speculation that IH arises from clonal expansion of a single endothelial precursor cell, referred to as an endothelial progenitor cell (EPC, now called endothelial colony forming cell (ECFC)), harbouring a somatic mutation.³⁵ Indeed, a

study by Yu and colleagues in 2004 found that 0.1 to 2% of ECs derived from IH samples co-expressed endothelial cell markers (CD34 and VEGFR2) and the stem cell antigen CD133, supporting the existence of EPCs in IH.³⁶

Pericytes are elongated cells that surround ECs in microvessels including IH blood vessels.³⁷ Though well-known for their role in vessel stabilization and hemodynamic processes,³⁸ their involvement in IH remains obscure. Pericytes derived from proliferating IH lesions (termed HemPER from hereon) can be identified based on their expression of alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA),³⁹ the pericyte marker nerve/glial antigen-2 (NG2),⁴⁰⁻⁴² platelet-derived growth factor receptor-β (PDGFRβ),⁴³ calponin,^{20,42} and NOTCH3.⁴⁴ In normal tissue, pericytes modulate EC proliferation, vessel maturation and vasoconstriction.^{38,45} However, a study that isolated pericytes from proliferating and involuting phase IH found that, when co-cultured with normal cord blood-derived ECFCs, HemPERs induced ECFC proliferation and migration.⁴¹ Even though this study utilized cord blood-derived ECFCs and not mature vessel-derived ECs, inclusion of retinal pericytes as control confirmed that HemPERs possess a proangiogenic phenotype. Furthermore, contractile ability by HemPERs was suppressed, which may explain the high-flow characteristics of IH. This suggests that pericytes may have a proangiogenic role in hemangiogenesis, due to their inability to regulate vessel maturation.

A significant number of mast cells have also been reported in IHs, but observations have been inconsistent in terms of when in IH development they are most abundant. Glowacki and Mulliken (1982) found the greatest mast cell numbers in proliferating lesions,⁴⁶ whereas others have reported highest counts during involution coinciding with EC apoptosis and capillary dropout.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ The current literature has not yet elucidated an exact role for mast cells in hemangiogenesis; however, a growing body of evidence suggests that they are involved in IH regression. Mast cells release various interferons and transforming growth factors such as interferon (IFN)- α , IFN- β , IFN- γ , and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), that are known to suppress IH proliferation.^{50,51} Notably, contradicting studies also exist arguing for a proangiogenic role of mast cells, owing to their ability to secrete VEGF-A and fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2.^{52,53} These discordances in findings may perhaps imply that the roles of mast cells in IH changes depending on the developmental stage of the lesion. Hence further investigation is required to fully understand how mast cells contribute to the IH life cycle.

Recently, multipotential stem cells have been isolated from proliferating IH lesions that were able to form blood vessels and IH-like lesions *in vivo*.⁵⁴ These cells express the stem cell marker CD133 and undergo clonal expansion, and are thus referred to as HemSCs. Making up 0.2% of proliferating IHs, HemSCs have robust vessel-forming capabilities that have been demonstrated both in vitro and in immunodeficient mouse models. Vessels formed by HemSCs express characteristic IH markers GLUT1 and merosin, and naturally transition into adipocytes – mimicking the involuting and involuted phases of IH. The stem cell phenotype and plasticity of these HemSCs has been confirmed by *in vivo* studies.⁵⁴ Clonally expanded (single cell) HemSCs were injected into immunodeficient mice. Human CD31(endothelial cell marker)-expressing cells were then isolated and injected into secondary immunodeficient mouse recipients. After 14 days, new blood vessels had formed, confirming the robust vasculogenic potential of HemSCs. Since then, similar results demonstrating the vessel-forming properties of HemSCs have been observed in other studies.^{55,56} Interestingly, HemSCs are also capable of differentiating into pericytes both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.⁵⁷ In the study by Boscolo et al (2011), CD133+ cells were isolated from proliferating IHs, expanded, and injected into nude mice. After 7 days, pericytes had developed around the newly-formed blood vessels, as was confirmed by the pericyte marker α -SMA. To confirm that these pericytes were of HemSC origin, GFP-labelled HemSCs were also injected. The co-expression of α -SMA and GFP confirmed that HemSCs give rise to pericytes. Moreover, another study showed that HemPER interaction with ECs was vital for proper vascular assembly in IH.⁴¹ This unique ability to give rise to both HemECs and HemPERs therefore emphasizes the principal role of HemSCs in IH pathogenesis.

1.1.3 Signaling pathways in IHs

Due to the excessive development and disorganization of blood vessels characteristic of early phase IHs, many studies have focused on the role of VEGF-A, a universal proangiogenic factor, in IH. Numerous studies have confirmed that VEGF-A is the major growth factor responsible for HemEC proliferation.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ As higher VEGF-A serum concentrations are observed in children with proliferating IH versus involuting, this conclusion is not surprising.⁶⁰⁻⁶² Furthermore, VEGF-A levels have been reported to drop following steroid treatment.^{60,62}

VEGF-A binds primarily to two tyrosine kinase receptors: VEGFR1/Flt-1 and VEGFR2/KDR. Both are found on the surface of ECs; however, they are believed to exert opposing effects.⁶³ VEGFR1 is indirectly antiangiogenic, binding to VEGF-A with higher affinity but without transmitting a signal. In doing so, it acts as a "trap" that prevents VEGF-A from binding to VEGFR2, which activates downstream signals resulting in EC proliferation.⁶⁴ However, it is the downregulation of VEGFR1 expression in IHs that is believed to contribute to increased VEGF-A levels and thus VEGF-A activity. A study found that low VEGFR1 expression resulted in increased VEGFR2 activity due to higher VEGF-A/VEGFR2 binding.⁶⁵ This reduction in VEGFR1 is due to downregulation of nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), a transcription factor regulating VEGFR1 expression. More specifically, missense mutations encoding VEGFR2 and tumor endothelial marker-8 (TEM8) have been found in HemECs and are implicated in the suppression of NFAT by altering the interactions between VEGFR2, TEM8 and B1-integrin, which regulate NFAT activity. This imbalance in VEGFR1 and VEGFR2 results in constitutive VEGFR2 signaling in HemECs, inducing EC proliferation and tumour development.^{65,66} Abnormal VEGF-A/VEGFR2 interaction may also be important in HemEC survival as VEGFR2 prevents ECs from undergoing apoptosis, whereas VEGFR1 mediates the proapoptotic effects of VEGF-A.^{67,68} Hence the imbalance of VEFR1 and VEGFR2 activity may mediate IH formation by affecting HemEC survival.

Another signaling pathway involved in IH development is the NOTCH pathway, which orchestrates cell fate differentiation as well as angiogenesis.^{44,69} The NOTCH system

depends on juxtacrine interactions between the NOTCH receptors (NOTCH-1 to -4) and ligands (Delta-like (DLL)1, DLL3, DLL4, JAGGED1 and JAGGED2). A study by Boscolo et al (2011) showed that JAGGED1 is highly upregulated in HemECs taken from proliferating IHs and that this expression is required for HemSC-to-HemPER differentiation.⁵⁷ Furthermore, silencing *JAGGED1* gene expression in HemECs abolished HemSC-to-HemPER differentiation and reduced blood vessel formation *in vivo*. The authors proposed that IH vasculogenesis begins with differentiation of HemSCs into HemECs, which then promote HemSC-to-HemPER differentiation and ultimately vascular development. In addition, VEGF-A is known to interact with NOTCH receptors and ligands that promote EC survival and angiogenesis.^{70,71} Since high levels of VEGF-A are found in IH,⁶⁰ this may lead to NOTCH pathway activation and induce a proangiogenic signaling cascade, propagating tumour development.

Low oxygen tension (hypoxia) has been associated with tumour angiogenesis and neovascularization in many cancers.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ Though its involvement in IH is poorly defined, a number of studies have associated hypoxia with IH development.^{75,76} Clinically, a blanched area of skin that precedes the IH is presented at birth. Such lesions lack normal blood flow and may be an area of local ischemia, the causes of which are still unknown.⁷⁷ During hypoxia, the expression of transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) is upregulated in tumour cells and induces production of other proangiogenic factors, such as VEGF-A and stromal cell-derived factor-1 α (SDF-1 α).⁷⁸ These factors are known to recruit ECFCs to ischemic areas and induce vasculogenesis.⁷⁹ MMP-9 and estrogen also play a role in ECFC mobilization.⁸⁰⁻⁸² These mediators, as well as HIF-1 α , SDF-1 α and VEGF-A, were measured in blood and tissue samples of children with proliferating IH and were found to be elevated.^{66,83} Moreover, low oxygen conditions have been shown to upregulate GLUT1 expression in various cell types.^{84,85} Thus hypoxia may induce ECFC localization and homing to the IH lesion, where the microenvironment further supports their maturation and development.⁸⁶

1.1.4 Current theories on the origin of IH

Various hypotheses have arisen in the past two decades regarding the origin of IH as investigations have been conducted. To date, it has been suggested that IH may arise from the placenta, from intrinsic defects or somatic mutations, or be induced by extrinsic factors. A unified hypothesis also exists combining both intrinsic and extrinsic theories. In the placenta theory, IH is believed to be caused by the embolization of placental precursors to the developing fetus from chorionic villus sampling (CVS) or placental trauma.^{13,87,88} Similarities in molecular marker expression as well as developmental timelines reinforce this notion. For example, microvessels in both placental tissue and IH are immunoreactive for GLUT1, Lewis Y antigen, merosin, Fc-y receptor-IIb, indoleamine 2,3-deoxygenase (IDO), and type III iodothyronine deiodinase (D3).^{21,89} The placenta, like IH, undergoes a period of robust blood vessel proliferation and then stabilizes itself.⁹⁰ Mihm Jr. and Nelson (2010) have also added a 'metastatic niche' component to this theory, in which the placenta secretes substances preparing a site (or 'niche') for the homing and growth of IH precursor cells (in this case, placental precursors).⁹¹ However, further investigation is needed to show a conclusive role of the placenta in the pathogenesis of IH.

The intrinsic theory speculates that genetic alterations in a progenitor cell are a contributing factor to hemangiogenesis.⁶⁹ Mutations in the 5q chromosome, which contains genes for EC proliferation and differentiation as well as tumour suppression, have been associated with IH development.⁹² Missense mutations in VEGFR2, VEGFR3 and TEM8 were detected in IH cells but not in cells from normal adjacent tissue.^{65,93} The progenitor origin of IH is further reinforced by nonrandom X-chromosome inactivation patterns exhibited in proliferating IH tissue, suggesting a monoclonal origin.⁹⁴ Additionally, elevated circulating ECFC levels have been documented in infants with IH and these ECFCs express GLUT1, merosin and CD32.⁹⁵ In 2008, Khan et al confirmed the progenitor origin of IH when CD133+ multipotential stem cells isolated from proliferating IH tissue were able to imitate all three stages of IH when implanted into mice.⁵⁴ The newly-formed blood vessels also expressed GLUT1 and merosin, adding further support to the intrinsic hypothesis of IH emergence.

Conversely, the extrinsic theory states that the microenvironment plays an essential role in inducing and regulating IH growth. Evidence shows that the epidermis overlying the tumour is altered in comparison to healthy, adjacent tissue.⁹⁶ Levels of IFN- β , an antiangiogenic regulator, were significantly lower in epidermis overlying proliferative phase IHs compared to normal skin. Furthermore, IFN- β levels increased as the lesions underwent involution, with levels reaching normalcy by 5 to 11 years of age. Although the source responsible for this change in IFN- β levels (ie. the epidermis or the IH tumour) was not determined, the authors suggest that the hyperplastic epidermis could very well play a role in disrupting angiogenic regulators in favour of IH development. Additionally, stromal cells in the tumour microenvironment may also influence IH growth by secreting VEGF^{41,97} and by activating alternate angiogenic pathways.⁹⁸ Taken collectively, this evidence supports an extrinsic component in the development of IH.

Most probably, IH development is a multi-faceted process that involves both intrinsic and extrinsic components. We know that IH arises from HemSCs, which are multipotential stem cells that are able to form GLUT1-positive blood vessels *in vivo* and that later undergo adipogenesis to produce fibrofatty residuum.⁵⁴ Moreover, there is a higher incidence of IH in babies of mothers who underwent CVS.⁹⁹ It is supposed then, that HemSCs may become dislodged from the placenta during CVS and home to an area in the developing fetus permissive to IH development, where cell-secreted growth factors and low oxygen levels induce HemSC differentiation and growth.

1.2 Development of the circulatory system

Insights into the origin and pathogenesis of IHs can be gained by examining the development of the circulatory system. In mammals, the formation of blood vessels and blood cells occurs in parallel through processes called vasculogenesis and hematopoiesis, respectively.¹⁰⁰ Both events begin in the embryonic yolk sac (YS), where mesodermal cells form aggregates called blood islands. Here, the first primitive endothelial and hematopoietic cells emerge.¹⁰¹ Due to their spatiotemporal similarity, there is a long-held

belief that both of these cell types emerge from a common bipotential precursor cell known as the hemangioblast.^{102,103} In the YS, primitive ECs form the first vascular network, termed the capillary plexus,¹⁰⁰ of which the VEGF signaling pathway is the primary regulator.^{104,105} Once the capillary plexus has formed, it begins to remodel itself through angiogenesis.¹⁰⁶ This process is carefully orchestrated by many molecular signaling pathways such as the Tie family of receptor kinases and the TGF- β superfamily.¹⁰⁷ Smooth muscle cells and pericytes are also recruited in order stabilize the rapidly-changing endothelium,¹⁰⁸ resulting in a highly organized network of arteries and veins that are structurally and functionally distinct. Through this remodeling process, each vascular component is able to serve a specialized purpose within the developing embryo.¹⁰⁷

Concurrent with vasculogenesis is the process of hematopoiesis, in which hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs; distinct from HSCs with limited self-renewing capacity) give rise to all blood cells in the circulatory system. The emergence of these blood cell progenitors occurs in distinct waves and sites.¹⁰⁹ The first wave, termed 'primitive' hematopoiesis, transpires in the YS blood islands and produces nucleated erythroid progenitors.¹⁰⁹ Synchronous with the first embryonic heartbeat, it then quickly transitions into the second, 'definitive' wave. At this time, HSCs are produced *de novo* in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros region (AGM),¹¹⁰ umbilical arteries,¹¹¹ and placenta;^{112,113} however, the AGM and placenta contribute the most to the HSC pool.¹¹⁴ Following definitive hematopoiesis, HSCs migrate to the fetal liver (FL), which becomes the principal hematopoietic organ for a considerable period during prenatal development. Shortly before birth, HSCs then home to the thymus, spleen, and finally the bone marrow (BM), which becomes the main source of HSCs after birth.¹¹⁵

1.2.1 Origins of hematopoietic progenitors

Similarities in marker expression and their synchronicity in appearance led to the postulation that endothelial and hematopoietic cells share a common precursor.¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁹ The earliest studies supporting the existence of the hemangioblast arise from work in chick

embryos, in which mesodermal cells selected for VEGFR2 could only give rise to endothelial or hematopoietic colonies, but not both.¹²⁰ Fetal liver kinase (FLK1, another term for VEGFR2), though not an exclusive marker, has been used as a means of potential hemangioblast isolation, as all hematopoietic and blood cells are derived from FLK1+ mesoderm.^{121,122} Disruption of the FLK1 gene in mice ablated the ability to form blood vessels and severely reduced hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell (HSPC) counts, supporting the existence of a hemangioblast-like cell.¹²³ Whilst the hemangioblast concept has been proven in various animal model systems such as the mouse and zebrafish,^{102,124,125} the advent of human embryonic stem cells (hES) provided real insight as to whether the hemangioblast exists in humans. Work by Kennedy et al (2007) showed that early-stage hES cultures were able to form blast colonies with hematopoietic and endothelial potential.¹²⁶ In addition, these hES-derived blast cells (hES-BCs) were able to restore vascularization in ischemic areas when injected into mice.¹²⁷ Though not yet confirmed in hES, studies using murine-derived ES have elucidated the essential roles of runt-related transcription factor 1 (RUNX1), GATA binding protein 2 (GATA2), stem cell leukemia (SCL, typically referred to as SCL/TAL1), VEGFR2 and bone morphogenetic protein-4 (BMP4) transcription factors in generating hemangioblast-like colony forming cells.^{122,128-131} Depending on intrinsic and extrinsic factors, the hemangioblast either gives rise to an endothelial-fated progenitor cell (ECFC or angioblast), or a HSC.^{132,133} Originally, they were believed to exist only in the early stages of embryogenesis; however, recent evidence has emerged confirming the presence of hemangioblasts in the adult.^{134,135} This exciting finding has major implications in elucidating not only how the adult body repairs itself during vascular injury, but also how it may contribute to vascular pathologies.

Alternatively, studies have shown an endothelial origin of HSCs. Namely, a subset of specialized ECs collectively known as the hemogenic endothelium (HE) gives rise to hematopoietic progenitors by forming intra-aortic clusters (IAC) or by budding.¹³⁶ Lineage tracing done by Zovein and colleagues (2008) revealed that, based on the expression of endothelial marker VE-cadherin, long-term, multilineage HSCs emerge from the ventral floor of the dorsal aorta of the AGM in a process known as endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition (EHT).¹³⁷ Once emerged, these HSCs migrate and seed

successive hematopoietic organs, where they differentiate. Indeed, multiple studies thereafter confirmed the AGM as a major source of HE in definitive hematopoiesis.¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰ Currently, identification of HE has been based upon co-expression of endothelial and hematopoietic cell markers. Specifically, collective VE-cadherin, CD31, CD34 and CD45 positivity has been associated with hemogenic potential and HSC emergence.^{109,138,141,142} Once HSCs have disengaged from the HE or HE-associated IACs, they progressively lose expression of EC marker VE-cadherin and upregulate the pan-hematopoietic marker CD45.^{143,144}

Though the existence of HE has been consistently supported, the existence of a bipotential precursor giving rise to hematopoietic cells leaves researchers confused as to the true origin of HSCs. Originally, hemangioblasts were believed to exist only in the early stages of development, following which the HE became the main source of hematopoietic progenitors. Furthermore, questions remain unanswered regarding the origin of HE itself. Are ECs predetermined to have hemogenic potential, or do influences from the microenvironment instigate EHT in differentiated ECs? A middle-ground theory has also been proposed, in which HSCs emerge from the hemangioblast through an intermediate endothelial stage, the HE.^{144,145} However, additional evidence is required to support this supposition.

1.2.2 Regulators of hematopoiesis

The process of hematopoiesis and EHT is complex and involves numerous pathways and factors. These include the VEGF, Wnt, NOTCH and BMP pathways;¹⁴⁶ fibroblast and angiopoietin growth factors;¹⁴⁷ transcription factors (TFs) RUNX1, GATA2, and SCL/TAL1; and the protein G protein-coupled receptor 56 (GPR56).¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰ For my studies, I will focus on RUNX1, GATA2, SCL/TAL1, and GPR56.

During embryonic development, RUNX1 has been documented to be expressed in ECs of definitive hematopoietic sites – that is, the AGM, YS, the placenta, and in the umbilical and vitelline arteries – but not in ECs elsewhere.^{151,152} Mice containing homozygous

mutations for RUNX1 show embryonic lethality at embryonic day 12.5 (E12.5) due to an inability of the embryo to undergo definitive FL hematopoiesis.¹⁵³ Moreover, recent studies have shown that RUNX1 is expressed in HE located in the AGM, umbilical and vitelline arteries, and placenta during definitive hematopoiesis,^{101,154} as well as in IACs budding off of the HE.¹³⁸ However, once HSCs have emerged from HE, RUNX1 is no longer required for HSC maintenance.¹⁵⁵ Therefore RUNX1 is indispensable for HSC emergence, but not thereafter.

GATA2 is another pivotal regulator of hematopoiesis. This is highlighted by the fact that all HSCs and most HPCs express GATA2,156 and that GATA2 knockout mice die at E10-11 due to severe anemia.¹⁵⁷ During hematopoiesis, GATA2 plays two functionally distinct roles: the production and expansion of HSCs in the AGM, and HSC proliferation in adult BM.¹⁵⁸ Both loss- and gain-of-function experiments have shown that GATA2 maintains HSC quiescence^{159,160} and regulates their proclivity to apoptosis¹⁶¹ – both of which are important in maintaining the HSC pool in embryonic and adult hematopoietic sites. It also conserves the immature state of HSPCs, as its expression decreases with differentiation.¹⁶² The mechanism by which GATA2 accomplishes these roles is not yet fully defined; however, studies suggest that it forms a multiprotein complex with TFs SCL/TAL1, Fli-1 proto-oncogene (FLI1), LIM domain only 2 (LMO2), RUNX1, lymphoblastic leukemia associated hematopoiesis regulator 1 (LYL1) and ETS transcription factor ERG, collectively known as the HSC "heptad" (Figure 1.2).^{163,164} This heptad binds to specific coding genes and microRNA promoters, activating a regulatory circuit that participates in lineage differentiation during hematopoiesis and EHT.¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ One of the downstream targets of the HSC heptad is GPR56. Whole transcriptome analysis done on mouse HSCs, hemogenic ECs, and ECs revealed that GPR56 is one of the most highly upregulated (38-fold) of the 530 genes investigated, along with the heptad TFs.¹⁶⁶ Furthermore, in human HSC-enriched cells, all seven heptad TFs were found bound to the GPR56 enhancer during EHT, thus regulating its expression. Though the exact function of GPR56 in hematopoiesis is currently unknown, studies suggest that it is required for HSC generation from HE,¹⁶⁶ for maintaining the HSC pool in BM,¹⁵⁰ as well as for HSC repopulation potential in HSC engraftment.^{150,167} Despite these speculations however, contradicting evidence by Rao et al (2015) showed

that, despite high levels of expression in murine-derived HSCs, GPR56 knockout did not impair HSC proliferation or survival in mice.¹⁶⁸ Furthermore, GPR56-deficient HSCs were able to regenerate the hematopoietic system in BM of irradiated recipient mice to the same degree as wild-type HSCs. Hence the role of GPR56 in HSC development requires validation.



Figure 1.2 The heptad transcription factors control fate-determination of HSCs.

Schematic diagram illustrating the mechanism by which several TFs (RUNX1, FLI1, LYL1, GATA2. SCL/TAL1, LMO2, ERG) interact to form a heptad, which controls lineage differentiation in HSCs.

No combination of markers currently exist that explicitly define HSCs. Nevertheless, researchers have identified surface antigens that are consistently expressed on HSCs and that are thus used for their potential isolation. As described previously, HSCs derived from hematopoietic clusters in EHT share similar cell marker expression with the hemogenic ECs from which they are derived. The endothelial markers VE-cadherin,^{169,170} CD31,^{171,172} and CD34,^{171,173} as well as the hematopoietic markers CD45,¹⁷⁴ GATA2,^{116,175} SCL/TAL1,¹¹⁶ and RUNX1¹⁵¹ have been observed in both cell types. Other markers such as c-Kit^{109,176} and CD150¹⁷⁷ have also been associated with HSC identity. However, these markers are not specific for HSCs and thus cell populations

isolated based on their expression are inevitably heterogeneous. Furthermore, the cellsurface phenotype changes as HSCs develop.¹⁷⁷ For these reasons, future studies are necessary in order to determine the true molecular signature of HSCs.

1.3 Organs involved in vascular development

1.3.1 The fetal liver

The fetal liver (FL) is a well-known site of definitive hematopoiesis. At approximately E11-12 in the mouse,¹⁷⁸ and day 23 and then again at day 30 in the human,¹⁷⁹ it becomes the primary source of HSCs in the embryo. These hematopoietic cells are believed to be derived from the YS and AGM; in other words, there is little evidence that the FL produces HSCs *de novo* or participates in EHT. Instead, the FL provides a niche, which is a local microenvironment that maintains the HSC pool through cellular interaction and factor secretion.^{109,180} Chemoattractants such as C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL)12 in FL endothelium help regulate HSC homing,^{181,182} while cell adhesion markers E-selectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) control their retention from the circulation.¹⁸³ Once in the FL, ECs from the portal vessels encourage HSC survival and proliferation via activated protein C (APC).¹⁸⁴ Perivascular cells expressing Nestin and NG2 also contribute to HSC maintenance.¹⁸⁵

During embryogenesis, the FL develops a complex vascular network that arises from *de novo* vessel generation and angiogenesis.¹⁸⁶ In the early stages of development, ECs arise from endodermal progenitor cells.¹⁸⁷ However, studies have also identified a cohort of FL-derived progenitor cells that express ECFC markers and are able to form endothelial colonies *in vitro*.^{188,189} A study by Cherqui et al (2006) confirmed their existence when CD31+Sca1+ cells isolated from the FL possessed high angiogenic potential when transplanted into mice.¹⁹⁰ In this study, CD31 served as a marker of ECs and Sca1 as the stem cell antigen. Interestingly, ECs derived from murine FL at E12 (during the definitive hematopoiesis time frame) have demonstrated similar robust neovascularization abilities *in vivo*.¹⁹¹ During liver organogenesis, the development of the

hepatic vascular network is regulated by VEGF, integrin interactions and extracellular matrix proteins.¹⁹² Hence it is evident that the FL is not only a major site of hematopoiesis, but also of vascular development.

1.3.2 The bone marrow

As the skeletal system develops in the embryo, blood vessels invade and provide circulation throughout the developing bone. In mice this occurs at E12.5¹⁹³ and in human at about 10.5 weeks.¹⁷⁹ This vascular intrusion allows for homing of HSCs from the FL, and from hereon the BM becomes the primary source of HSCs postnatally. However, unlike FL-HSCs which are highly proliferative, those in the BM are largely quiescent.¹⁹⁴ This is to maintain an appropriate number of differentiated blood cells in the adult and renew HSCs on an as-needed basis.

In the BM, HSCs localize to sinusoids, where they interact with various cell types that regulate their quiescence and differentiation state.^{185,195} These include osteoblasts,^{196,197} perivascular cells,¹⁹⁸ ECs,¹⁹⁹ mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs),²⁰⁰ adipocytes,²⁰¹ and neurons of the sympathetic nervous system.²⁰² Many of these cells express stem cell factor (SCF) and/or CXCL12, which are critical for HSC maintenance.^{198,203,204} In addition to ligand-receptor interactions, the BM houses HSCs in the endosteum, which is a relatively hypoxic environment.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷ Though the mechanism by which low oxygen tension maintains HSC quiescence is not yet fully understood, studies suggest it could be by regulating factors important for hematopoiesis as well as for cell cycle progression. For example, hypoxia appears to upregulate expression of VEGF,²⁰⁸ SCF,²⁰⁹ and NOTCH1,²¹⁰ all of which are involved in HSC maintenance, by oxygen-sensitive HIF-1 α . HIF-1 α is also important in maintaining HSCs in G₀, as it upregulates cell-cycle inhibitors p21^{Cip1211} and p57^{kip2212}. Furthermore, the low-oxygen environment appears to protect HSCs from reactive oxygen species (ROS).^{213,214} Therefore both the molecular and physical components of the BM make it an ideal microenvironment for adult HSCs.

Emerging evidence suggests that the BM is not only a source of HSCs, but also of ECFCs. These ECFCs can be mobilized from the BM, enter the circulation and travel to sites of ischemia and/or injury where they undergo neovascularization.^{215,216} Shi et al (2008) isolated cells based on CD45 expression from human BM and cultured them in media supplemented with basic FGF (bFGF), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and VEGF.¹⁸⁹ They found that, after 15 to 20 days in culture, the CD45+ cells formed adherent EC-like colonies. Furthermore, these cells expressed vWF and incorporated acetylated low-density lipoprotein (LDL). The presence of ECFCs in the BM has also been repeatedly investigated *in vivo*. In these studies, cells isolated for certain endothelial and hematopoietic markers were implanted into animals with organ-specific ischemic injuries. In all cases, implanted ECFC-like cells restored the vasculature at the sites of injury,²¹⁷⁻²¹⁹ reaffirming a vasculogenic role of precursor cells in the BM.

1.3 Rationale

Previous work done in our laboratory has shown that IH arises from multipotential stem cells, termed hemangioma stem cells (HemSCs).⁵⁴ However, the origin of HemSCs has not been elucidated. During embryogenesis, blood vessels and blood cells are believed to develop in parallel at various sites from a common bipotential precursor cell called a hemangioblast.²²⁰ Based on the developmental time and the microenvironment, these hemangioblasts commit to becoming hematopoietic or endothelial precursors.^{221,222} It was originally believed that these hemangioblasts are present only in mesoderm and in the early developing embryo (that is, the yolk sac blood islands),²²³ and that angioblasts and hemogenic endothelium give rise to endothelial and hematopoietic cells, respectively, for the remainder of embryonic development and in adult life.^{103,224} However, recent evidence suggests that adult hemangioblasts do in fact exist, and are able to form ECs both in vitro and in vivo. 103,135,225-227 Given that IHs arise from HemSCs with vasculogenic but not hematopoietic potential, I wanted to investigate whether HemSCs show similarity to the hemangioblast, and if so, what mechanisms are involved in its endothelial versus hematopoietic commitment. By doing so, I aimed to provide novel insight into the origin of HemSCs and how they develop into IH.

1.4 Hypothesis

I hypothesize that *IH stem cells will express markers of hematopoiesis but will be incapable of undergoing hematopoiesis.* If true, my studies will support the idea that IH represents abnormal homing of a bilineage mesodermal precursor, specifically along the migration from fetal liver to bone-marrow (Figure 1.3).

1.4.1 Specific Aims

In order to test my hypothesis, I established the following two aims:

- To compare the expression profile of HemSCs and normal stem/progenitor cells, including bone marrow-mesodermal progenitor cells (BM-MPCs) and fetal liver stem cells (FLSCs).
- To compare the differentiation potential of HemSCs, BM-MPCs, and FLSCs.



Figure 1.3 Stepwise migration of the hemangioblast during embryogenesis, potentially giving rise to IH.

The hemangioblast may divert from its path either from the fetal liver before birth, or from the bone marrow postnatally. E = embryonic day; D = day; HBL = hemangioblast; AGM = aorta-gonad-mesonephros region; HemSC = IH-derived stem cell; IH = infantile hemangioma

Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 IH cell culture

CD133-selected cells from proliferating IH specimens (HemSCs) were kindly provided by Dr. Joyce Bischoff (Children's Hospital Boston, Boston, MA). We have previously characterized these cells through RT-PCR, immunostaining, and cellular activity assays.⁵⁴ Bone marrow mesenchymal progenitor cells (BM-MPCs) were isolated from bone marrow mononuclear cell (BM-MNC) preparations (2M-125B, Lonza Inc., Walkersville, MD). For my hematopoiesis assay, fresh BM-MNCs were graciously given by Dr. David Hess (Western University, ON). Both BM-MPCs and BM-MNCs were used as normal stem/progenitor cell controls. CD133-selected human fetal liver cells (FLSCs) were obtained from Applied Biological Materials (Richmond, BC, Canada) and were also used as normal stem cell controls. All cells were cultured in complete EBM-2 media (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (Lonza), EGM-2 SingleQuots (CC-4176, Lonza Inc.) and 1X antibiotic antimycotic media (PSF; Life Technologies). EGM-2 SingleQuots contain epidermal growth factor, VEGF-A, IGF-1, bFGF, hydrocortisone, ascorbic acid, and gentamycin/amphotericin B. Hereinafter this media is called EBM-2/20% FBS. Media was changed every other day. Cells were cultured under identical conditions and kept in an incubator with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Three biological replicates were used for my IH samples taken from three separate patients, whereas BM-MPCs and FLSCs had one biological replicate.

2.2 RNA isolation and RT-PCR

RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Micro Plus Kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) and measured using Qubit RNA Broad Range Assay in a Qubit Fluorometer (Life Technologies). cDNA was then synthesized using iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) in T100 Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad). Genes associated with stem/pluripotent, endothelial, mesenchymal, hematopoietic and adipogenic cell lineages were analyzed, as were markers of EHT, using individual primers outlined below by RT-PCR (Table 2.1). Each RT-PCR reaction (individual gene) consisted of 10 µL RT² SYBR Green qPCR Mastermix (Qiagen), 2 µL primer mix (Qiagen), 1 µL cDNA, and 7 µL of H₂O for a total reaction volume of 20 µL. All reactions were performed for 40 cycles following the RT² protocol: 95°C for 10 minutes (initial denaturation and polymerase activation); and 60°C for 1 minute (annealing and extension). Gene expression was analyzed by CFX Manager Software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.) using the normalized $(\Delta\Delta CT)$ method with β -actin as the housekeeping gene. Analysis via RT-PCR included three experimental replicates and one technical replicate per RNA sample. Melting curve analysis was performed to ensure specific amplification. For pluripotency genes, RNA from human embryonic stem cells H9 (ScienCell, Catalogue # 5825) was amplified and melting temperatures of amplicons were compared with HemSCs, BM-MPCs, and FLSCs. For mesenchymal genes, RNA from human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells (Lonza Inc., Catalogue # CC-2579) was amplified and melting temperatures compared. Lastly, for endothelial cell genes, RNA from human neonatal dermal microvascular endothelial cells (Lonza Inc., Catalogue # CC-2516) was used as control.

Table 2.1 List of primers used for RT-PCR

GENE

Description

Stem Cell and H	Pluripotency Phenotype	
CD133	Cluster of differentiation 133, Prominin-1	Qiagen (QT00075586)
c-KIT	Tyrosine-protein kinase Kit	Qiagen (QT00080409)
DPPA4	Developmental pluripotency associated 4	Qiagen (QT00046515)
GDF3	Growth differentiation factor 3	Qiagen (QT00014952)
LEFTY1	Left-right determination factor 1	Qiagen (QT00037373)
NANOG	Nanog homeobox	Qiagen (QT01025850)
OCT4/POUF5	Octomer-binding transcription factor-4	Qiagen (QT00210840)
PODXL	Podocalyxin like	Qiagen (QT00005138)
SOX2	Sex determining region Y-box 2	Qiagen (QT00237601)
ZFP42	Zinc-finger protein-42	Qiagen (QT00051009)
Endothelial Phe	enotype	
CD34	Hematopoietic/endothelial cell surface glycoprotein	Qiagen (QT00056497)
VEGFR2/KDR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2	Qiagen (QT00069818)
CD31	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion	Qiagen (QT00081172)
VE-Cadherin	Vascular endothelial-cadherin	Qiagen (QT00013244)
vWF	von Willebrand factor	Qiagen (QT00051975)
Mesenchymal P	Phenotype	
NT5E/CD73	5'-nucleotidase	Qiagen (QT00027279)
ENG	Endoglin	Qiagen (QT00013335)
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor	Qiagen (QT00056756)
THY1	Thy-1 cell surface antigen	Qiagen (QT00023569)
Hematopoiesis o	& EHT Phenotype	
ALCAM	Activated leukocyte adhesion molecule	Qiagen (QT00026824)
PTPRC/CD45	Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor C	Qiagen (QT00028791)
ETV6	ETS variant 6	Qiagen (QT00074648)
FEV	FEV, ETS transcription factor	Qiagen (QT00215887)

Source (Catalogue #)

GATA2	GATA binding protein 2	Qiagen (QT00045381)
GATA3	GATA binding protein 3	Qiagen (QT00095501)
RUNX1	Runt related transcription factor	Qiagen (QT00026712)
SCL/TAL1	Stem cell protein (SCL/TAL1, T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia protein 1)	Qiagen (QT00012530)

Adipogenic Phenotype

C/EBPa	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein α	Qiagen (QT00203357)
C/EBPβ	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein β	Qiagen (QT00237580)
C/EBΡδ	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein δ	Qiagen (QT00224357)
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor γ	Qiagen (QT00029841)
FABP4	Fatty acid binding protein 4	Qiagen (QT01667694)
LEP	Leptin	Qiagen (QT00030261)

Housekeeping Gene

β-actin	Housekeeping gene, beta-actin	Qiagen (QT01680476)
---------	-------------------------------	---------------------
2.3 Immunofluorescent cell staining

All cells were plated at 20,000 cells/cm² density on 4- or 8-chambered slides for 48 hours prior to staining to allow for adherence. Cells were fixed with methanol and then stained for hematopoietic and progenitor cell markers using primary antibodies for one hour at room temperature, with the exception of CD45 (Table 2.2). Primary antibodies were diluted in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 1% bovine serum albumin. Following primary incubation, cells were incubated with Fluorescein-conjugated secondary antibody (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for one hour at room temperature. Slides were then counterstained and mounted with ProLong® Diamond Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Life Technologies). Images were taken using Olympus BX-51 fluorescent microscope (Olympus Canada Inc., Richmond Hill, ON) and SPOT Basic Image Capture & SPOT Advanced Microscope Imaging Software (SPOT Imaging Solutions, Sterling Heights, MA). Images were acquired at the same exposure for each antigen. Staining intensity was measured by NIH Image J software (https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/). Measurements were double-normalized, first to background levels (areas on respective slides without cells), and then to negative control slides (no primary antibody).

Antigen	Host	Source (Catalogue #)	Dilution
GATA2	Rabbit	Santa Cruz (sc9008)	1:200
GPR56	Rabbit	Invitrogen (720373)	1:200
SCL/TAL1	Mouse	eBioscience (E17791-101)	1:200
CD45	Rabbit	Abcam (ab10558)	1:200
CD150	Rabbit	Abcam (ab156288)	1:200
RUNX1	Rabbit	Abcam (ab189153)	1:200

Table 2.2 Primary antibodies used for immunofluorescence staining

2.4 IH specimens and immunostaining

All studies were conducted following approval by the Research Ethics Board at Western University, London, Ontario, Canada. Paraffin-embedded IH specimens were obtained from the Department of Pathology Tissue Archives at the London Health Sciences Centre (LHSC, London Ontario, Canada). The proliferating phase of IH specimens was confirmed through medical history and histological analysis of densely packed capillaries. In addition, all IH sections were immunostained with GLUT1 to confirm diagnosis. Tissue blocks were sectioned at 5 μ m thickness. Sections were deparaffinized in xylene, hydrated in ethanol gradient, and subjected to antigen retrieval using Tris/EDTA buffer (10 mM Trizma-base, 1 mM EDTA, 0.05% Tween-20, pH 9.0) in 2100 Retriever (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA).

I used two separate cases of proliferating IH for my immunostaining experiments. Slides were blocked with 5% horse serum for 30 minutes. Without washing, primary antibodies outlined in Table 2.2 were added at 1:100 dilution for 1 hour at room temperature. Following primary antibody incubation, fluorescein- or Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated secondary antibodies (Vector Laboratories, Burlington, ON) were used for detection. Lectin from *Ulex europaeus*-Atto 594 conjugate (Ulex, Sigma-Aldrich) was used to stain for ECs. Ulex europaeus I is a lectin specific for some alpha-L-fucose-containing glycocompounds which are highly expressed on ECs.²²⁸ Slides were counterstained with DAPI (Vector Laboratories). Images were taken using the Olympus BX-51 microscope (Olympus Canada Inc.).

Control specimens for staining comprised of early gestation human placenta (22-25 weeks) specimens, pyogenic granuloma specimens (highly vascular tumour commonly used in IH studies), and human skin specimens. Only one case for each control specimen was used. Negative controls for staining experiments were performed without the primary antibody added.

2.5 Differentiation assays

To assess adipogenic differentiation potential, HemSCs, BM-MPCs and FLSCs were first expanded in culture. Cells were then seeded into 24-well plates at a density of 50,000 cells/cm² in EBM2/20% growth media. Adipocyte differentiation assays typically involve plating cells at sub-confluent densities. However, this assay incorporates both early mitotic burst and then differentiation.²²⁹ To specifically assess adipogenic differentiation in HemSCs and normal counterparts, I elected to plate cells at confluent densities to minimize the contribution of different growth kinetics. After plating and allowing cells to adhere for 24 hours, growth media; Life Technologies) or control media, which consisted of Adipogenesis Basal Media supplemented with 10% FBS and 1x PSF. Both differentiation and control media was changed every other day. After 7 days, cells were stained with LipidTOX (Thermo Fisher) for the presence of lipid droplets. RNA was also isolated at this time to perform RT-PCR for transcription factors involved in adipogenesis (see Table 2.1).

Hematopoiesis was induced in HemSCs, BM-MPCs and FLSCs using MethoCult media (StemCell Technologies). Optimal cell seeding density was determined by testing seeding densities at 10K, 25K, 50K, and 100K cells/mL of Methocult media. Cells were mixed with MethoCult media using a 1 mL syringe/16-gauge blunt end needle and dispensed into 35 mm plates in duplicate cultures. After 14 days cultures were assessed for the presence of blast colony-forming units (BFUs) under phase-contrast microscopy.

2.6 Statistical analysis

Most of the studies are qualitative and focused on the detection of phenotype-associated transcripts and antigen immunoreactivity in cells and tissues. For these studies, appropriate positive and negative controls were included to validate the results. Statistical analysis was performed on quantitative mRNA data from the differentiation assay. In this

case, a students' t-test was performed to compare induction media to respective control media. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 Transcript profiling reveals multilineage priming of IHderived stem cells

My first objective was to assess the expression of genes associated with various lineages in CD133-selected cultures of HemSCs. For these studies, I utilized normal BM-MPCs and CD133-selected FLSCs cultured under identical conditions for comparisons. First, I used RT-PCR to confirm the expression of stem and pluripotency genes in HemSC cultures from three patient samples (Hem106, Hem127, and Hem115), alongside BM-MPCs and FLSCs. Analysis of CD133 transcripts showed undetectable levels in all cell types studied (Figure 3.1). This is not surprising as CD133 is readily lost as soon as cells adhere to culture dishes following isolation from tissues. However, both HemSCs and FLSCs were confirmed to be positive for CD133 mRNA following isolation (data not shown). My results also show that all IH cell preparations expressed genes which exclusively mark pluripotent cells, including the Yamanaka transcription factors OCT4, SOX2 and NANOG.^{230,231} In addition, PODXL and DPPA4 were also expressed in HemSCs. It was interesting to find undetectable levels of TGF- β family members GDF3 and LEFTY1 in HemSCs, perhaps indicating some level of differentiation in cultured cells.

Next, I investigated the expression of mesodermal lineage genes in HemSCs. Mesoderm gives rise to muscle, connective tissue, dermis and subcutaneous layer of the skin, bone and cartilage, endothelium of blood vessels, hematopoietic cells, as well as the kidneys and the adrenal cortex. I expected multiple mesodermal genes to be expressed in HemSCs as well as the positive controls BM-MPCs and FLSCs. I utilized the same experimental platform to detect transcripts of various mesodermal lineages to determine whether HemSCs show priming towards a specific lineage. I observed expression of most mesodermal markers including ALCAM, ENG, CD73/NT5E, and THY1 in HemSCs (Figure 3.2A). NGFR expression was inconsistent, being present in only two out of three IH cell preparations, and in FLSCs but not BM-MPCs. Analysis of endothelial cell genes

showed that HemSCs express CD31, CD34, and KDR/VEGFR2 (Figure 3.2B). CD34 was detected in all three patient samples of HemSCs and FLSCs but not BM-MPCs, whereas CD31 was positive in HemSCs and BM-MPCs but not FLSCs. Only VEGFR2 expression was similar among all cell types. However, there was no detection of fully mature and functional ECs, otherwise indicated by VE-CADH or vWF expression, in HemSCs. Previous studies from our laboratory have shown that HemSCs only acquire markers of fully differentiated ECs upon implantation in mice.⁵⁴ This suggests that the signal for proper endothelial differentiation are missing *in vitro* and may explain the lack of detectable VE-cadherin and vWF transcripts.

Given that my HemSC samples expressed genes indicating a stem cell phenotype, I wanted to explore the possibility that they exhibit hematopoietic and EHT-related genes. Interestingly, I found that ETV6, GATA2, and RUNX1 were present at similar levels between all cell types (Figure 3.3). GPR56 was present in all three patient samples of HemSCs and in FLSCs but not in BM-MPCs. Furthermore, there was no detection of SCL/TAL1 mRNA in any of the cell lines tested. HemSCs clearly lacked the expression of GATA3, which was robustly expressed in FLSCs and BM-MPCs. GATA3 has been shown to be expressed in long-term hematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSCs), which are deeply quiescent HSCs capable of reconstituting all hematopoietic cell lineages indefinitely in irradiated mice.²³² In the study by Frelin et al (2013), GATA3 induces LT-HSCs to exit from cell cycle quiescence and decreases their long-term reconstitution ability. When GATA3 was deleted however, LT-HSCs exhibited enhanced regenerative activity and self-renewal.²³² Hence the absence of GATA3 expression in HemSCs may point to a mechanism underlying the self-renewing and undifferentiated nature of these IH-initiating cells.



Figure 3.1 Expression of pluripotency-associated genes in IH stem cells.

RT-PCR analysis was done on CD133-selected cultures of HemSCs from three different patients (Hem106, Hem115, Hem127), BM-MPCs and FLSCs at cell passages 8-10. The specificity of the amplification was determined by melting curve analysis. Data is normalized to β -actin expression. Data expressed as means. Three biological replicates were used for HemSCs and one biological replicate for BM-MPCs and FLSCs. The experiment was repeated three times using one technical replicate. The figure represents typical results.





RT-PCR analysis was done on CD133-selected cultures of HemSCs from three different patients (Hem106, Hem115, Hem127), BM-MPCs and FLSCs at cell passages 8-10. The specificity of the amplification was determined by melting curve analysis. Data is normalized to β -actin expression. Data expressed as means. Three biological replicates were used for HemSCs and one biological replicate for BM-MPCs and FLSCs. The

experiment was repeated three times using one technical replicate. The figure represents typical results.



Figure 3.3 Expression of genes associated with hematopoiesis and EHT.

RT-PCR analysis was done on CD133-selected cultures of HemSCs from three different patients (Hem106, Hem115, Hem127), BM-MPCs and FLSCs at cell passages 8-10. The specificity of the amplification was determined by melting curve analysis. Data is normalized to β -actin expression. Data expressed as means. Three biological replicates were used for HemSCs and one biological replicate for BM-MPCs and FLSCs. The experiment was repeated three times using one technical replicate. The figure represents typical results.

3.2 IH stem cells express hematopoietic-lineage proteins

Based on my gene expression findings, I stained HemSC, FLSC and BM-MPC for hematopoietic and EHT antigen expression. Current literature indicates that RUNX1, GATA2, GPR56, and SCL/TAL1 are master regulators of hematopoiesis,²³³ and CD150 is a marker found on all HSCs.¹⁹⁵ My results show that HemSCs are immunopositive for RUNX1, GPR56, and CD150 (Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5). Consistent with my gene analysis study, SCL/TAL1 was absent in all cell types. RUNX1 showed nuclear localization and CD150 was localized to the cell plasma membrane, as expected. Quantification of staining intensity confirmed these findings, reaffirming RUNX1, GPR56 and CD150 expression but not GATA2 and SCL/TAL1 in all cells investigated (Figure 3.5). Surprisingly, I observed GPR56 immunopositivity in cell nuclei rather than membranes, which was unanticipated given that GPR56 is an adhesion receptor and thus contains a particularly elongated extracellular domain.²³⁴ Furthermore, GPR56 is a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) and the traditional model of GPCRs entails a cell membrane localization where these proteins activate heterotrimeric G proteins and their intracellular signaling pathways. However, it should be noted that this model is not able to account for GPCRs, G proteins, and their downstream effectors that are found on the nuclear membrane or in the nucleus. Nuclear localization of GPR56 in these stem cells may be a readout of increased cycling and proliferation in culture.





Three IH samples (Hem106, Hem115, Hem127), FLSCs and BM-MPCs were seeded on glass slides and stained using primary antibodies against RUNX1, GATA2, GPR56, SCL/TAL1 and CD150 (green). All cells were seeded at a density of 20,00 cells/cm² and cultured for 48 hours prior to staining. Experiments were carried out with cells at passages 8-10. Images were taken at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200µM. Figure is representative of images captured at multiple fields of view.



Figure 3.5 Fluorescence intensity analysis of hematopoietic and EHT antigens.

Immunofluroescence staining intensity of hematopoiesis- and EHT-antigens was measured using Image J. RUNX1, GPR56 and CD150 were expressed in all cell types with no discernable difference. GPR56 displaying strong immunoreactivity in all cell types. GATA2 and SCL/TAL1 expression was absent upon normalization to negative control (no primary antibody). Data expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.3 IH blood vessels express hematopoietic stem cell markers

Previous work in our lab has shown that IH originates from HemSCs, which give rise to GLUT1-positive microvessels.⁵⁴ Whether IH vessels express proteins associated with hematopoietic lineage is not currently known. However, my in vitro data showed that some hematopoiesis- and EHT-associated genes are expressed in HemSCs. Therefore, I stained proliferating IH tissues for HSC markers CD45 and CD150. Surprisingly, samples obtained from 2 different IH patients demonstrated CD45 and CD150 reactivity localized to ECs (shown in yellow; ECs stained with Ulex) (Figure 3.6). Both CD45 and CD150 almost exclusively marked ECs in IH specimens. Intrigued by this finding, I speculated whether expression of HSC markers in IH endothelium was indicative of EHT. Thus, I also stained for EHT markers RUNX1, GATA2, SCL/TAL1 and GPR56. I observed RUNX1 and GATA2 positivity in ECs lining IH vessels as well as in perivascular cells (Figure 3.7A, B). Both GATA2 and RUNX1 showed typical nuclear localization. Furthermore, both IH samples were immunoreactive to GPR56, and expression was found in ECs, similar to CD45 and CD150 (Figure 3.7C). SCL/TAL1 was not detected in either patient samples (Figure 3.7D), confirming my cell staining and gene analysis findings.

Since GLUT1, the diagnostic marker for IH, has also been shown to be expressed in placenta,²³⁵ I wanted to compare my IH sample findings to placental tissue (22-25 weeks). Staining of placenta specimens showed CD45 and CD150 reactivity primarily in the synctiotrophoblasts (Figure 3.8). Rarely, CD150 was observed in ECs present in the mesenchyme. RUNX1 and GATA2 stained scattered cells in the mesenchyme but showed no reactivity in ECs marked by Ulex labelling. Similar results were obtained for GPR56 showing robust positivity in the mesenchyme.

To bolster my findings, I also stained pyogenic granuloma tissues, which is a vascular lesion similar to IHs (often referred to as 'eruptive' or 'lobular' IH) and commonly used in IH research for comparisons. Recent molecular studies have shown that pyogenic granuloma exhibits high enrichment for gene ontology corresponding to vasculature development.²³⁶ Furthermore, ECs in pyogenic granuloma also express OCT4, SOX2, and NANOG.²³⁷ Therefore, I reasoned that pyogenic granuloma ECs will share the

expression of key hematopoietic and EHT-related proteins with IHs. As expected, I found antigen staining of pyogenic granuloma to parallel results obtained from IH specimens (Figure 3.9). CD45, CD150, and GPR56 displayed co-localization to the ECs in pyogenic granuloma. In addition, RUNX1 and GATA2, although expressed, did not display immunopositivity in the endothelium. These transcription factors were found primarily in the interstitium.

For my immunostaining studies, I used human adult skin tissues as a negative control for hematopoietic markers. None of the hematopoietic cell markers were seen in ECs (Figure 3.10). Although CD45 expression in human skin (both fetal and postnatal) has been reported in the literature,^{238,239} no discernable staining was seen in Ulex-marked ECs. RUNX1 and GATA2 showed reactivity in the epidermal layer. However, the pattern of staining (non-nuclear) suggested background signal rather than specific staining. In addition, GPR56 was found in the dermal layer, but again no reactivity was seen to co-localize with Ulex marking.



Figure 3.6 ECs in IH specimens express HSC markers CD45 and CD150.

IH sections were labeled with antibodies against (A) CD45 and (B) CD150 (green), Ulex for endothelial cells (red), and DAPI for nuclei (blue). Primary antibody and Ulex colocalization is shown as yellow. Images were captured at multiple fields of view at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200µM. Figure represents typical results for two cases of proliferating IH.







Figure 3.7 RUNX1, GATA2 and GPR56 expression in IH specimens.

IH sections were labeled with antibodies against (A) RUNX1, (B) GATA2, (C) SCL/TAL1 and (D) GPR56 (green), Ulex for ECs (red), and DAPI for nuclei (blue). Primary antibody and Ulex co-localization is shown as yellow. Images were captured at multiple fields of view at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200µM. Figure represents typical results for two cases of proliferating IH.



Figure 3.8 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of placenta specimens.

Placenta tissue (22-25 weeks) was labeled with antibodies against (A) CD45 (B) CD150 (C) RUNX1, (D) GATA2, (E) GPR56 (green), Ulex for ECs (red), and DAPI for nuclei (blue). Primary antibody and Ulex co-localization is shown as yellow. Images were

captured at multiple fields of view at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200µM. Figure represents typical results for one case of placenta tissue (22-25 weeks).



Figure 3.9 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of pyogenic granuloma.

Pyogenic granuloma samples were labeled with antibodies against (A) CD45 (B) CD150(C) RUNX1, (D) GATA2, (E) GPR56 (green), Ulex for ECs (red), and DAPI for nuclei(blue). Primary antibody and Ulex co-localization is shown as yellow. Images were

captured at multiple fields of view at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200µM. Figure represents typical results for one case of pyogenic granuloma.



Figure 3.10 HSC and EHT immunofluorescence staining of human adult skin.

Human adult skin samples were labeled with antibodies against (A) CD45 (B) CD150 (C) RUNX1, (D) GATA2, (E) GPR56 (green), Ulex for ECs (red), and DAPI for nuclei (blue). Primary antibody and Ulex co-localization is shown as yellow. Images were

captured at multiple fields of view at 20x magnification. Scale bar represents 200 μ M. Figure represents typical results for one case of human adult skin.

3.4 IH stem cells lack hematopoietic differentiation ability *in vitro*

Our laboratory has previously shown that HemSCs are able to differentiate into mesenchymal cells (adipocytes, osteocytes, chondrocytes) and ECs, but cannot undergo hematopoietic differentiation as assessed by traditional *in vitro* assays.^{54,240} Based on my findings that HSC and EHT markers are expressed in HemSCs and in proliferating IH tissues, I wanted to confirm the selective differentiation potential of HemSCs.

First, I induced adipogenesis in HemSC cultures and analyzed for lipid droplet formation and adjocyte gene expression, using BM-MPCs as control. I found that HemSCs displayed robust lipid formation, similar to BM-MPCs, whereas FLSCs did not (Figure 3.11). I then utilized RT-PCR to confirm adipogenic differentiation in HemSCs by measuring CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP)- α , - β , and - δ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy), Leptin, and fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) mRNA levels. C/EBPs (α , β , δ) and PPAR γ are transcriptional factors required for adipogenic differentiation. Once cells fully differentiate into adipocytes, late markers such as Leptin and FABP4 are induced. As expected from the LipidTOX staining results, HemSCs showed upregulation of C/EBP δ and PPAR γ compared to the control/noninducing media. Interestingly, however, I also observed increased adipocyte marker expression in FLSCs. Though no studies have investigated the adipogenic potential of CD133-selected FLSCs, a recent study by Wang et al (2016) showed that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) isolated from fetal liver are unable to differentiate into adipocytes.²⁴¹ Hence my studies may perhaps suggest that FLSCs respond to external pro-adipogenic stimuli, but their ability to accumulate lipid droplets (as seen by the complete absence of LipidTOX positivity) is inhibited.

I then sought to determine whether HemSCs can differentiate into hematopoietic lineages. We have previously shown that this may not be the case.⁵⁴ However, one key piece of information was missing previously. My gene expression analyses showed variable expression of select genes which may point to differential ability of HemSCs for hematopoietic differentiation. For example, Hem127 expressed NGFR (Figure 3.2) but lacked detectable mRNA for FEV (Figure 3.3). Whereas, Hem115 lacked NGFR but expressed FEV. NGFR has been shown to be expressed on non-hematopoietic stem cells in the marrow.²⁴² Furthermore, FEV is designated as a key fetal hematopoiesis regulator.²⁴³ Therefore, I tested Hem115 and Hem127 for hematopoietic differentiation ability and used bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells (BM-MNCs) as my positive control. My results show that after 14 days of induction in Methocult media, no blast colony-forming units (BFUs) are produced in either HemSC cultures (Figure 3.13). Similarly, no hematopoietic activity was observed in FLSCs. These results suggest that *in vitro* culture of HemSCs possibly strips the cells of hematopoietic activity or that hematopoietic activity may be inhibited in HemSCs.





Figure 3.11 HemSCs are able to differentiate into adipocytes similar to BM-MPCs.

HemSCs (Hem106), FLSCs and BM-MPCs were cultured in adipocyte induction media for 7 days before staining for lipid droplets with LipidTOX (green). BM-MPCs were used as a positive control. Cells were at passages 6-8 at the time of induction. Images were taken at multiple fields of view at 4x magnification. Scale bar represents 100µM. Figure represents typical results.



Figure 3.12 Induction of adipogenesis-specific transcription factors in HemSCs upon differentiation.

HemSCs (Hem106), FLSCs and BM-MPCs were cultured in adipocyte induction media and control media (basal adipogenic media without differentiation factors) for 7 days prior to gene analysis. Markers specific for adipocytes were assessed: (A) C/EBP α , (B) C/EBP β , (C) C/EBP δ , (D) PPAR γ , (E) Leptin, and (F) FABP4. Values represent foldchange expression relative to control media. BM-MPCs were used as a positive control. Cells were at passages 6-8 at the time of induction. Data expressed as mean ± SD. *p<0.05 compared to respective control media.



Figure 3.13 HemSCs are unable to form hematopoietic colonies *in vitro*.

(A) Hem127, (B) Hem115, (C) FLSCs and (D) BM-MNCs were plated at a seeding density of 10,000 cells/mL of Methocult induction media. After 14 days, cultures were analyzed for the formation of blast colony-forming units (BFUs), such as seen in BM-MNCs (D). Cells were at passages 6-8 at the time of induction, except for BM-MNCs, which were at passage 0. Images were taken at multiple fields of view at 4x magnification. Scale bar represents 100µM. Figure represents typical results.

Chapter 4

4 Conclusions

4.1 Discussion

One of the key findings of my studies is the expression of hematopoiesis-related genes in IH-derived stem cells (HemSCs). I show that HemSCs express genes of mesenchymal, endothelial, and hematopoietic lineages in culture, as expected of multipotential stem cells. Surprisingly, my immunostaining experiments showed co-localization of CD45, CD150, GATA2, and RUNX1 in ECs lining IH vessels in proliferating IH tissue samples. However, HemSCs lack hematopoietic activity when assessed in culture. These findings have provided greater insight into the phenotype of IH-initiating cells and may lead to the discovery of the cellular origin of IHs.

I first set out to investigate the transcript profile of HemSCs. I screened for genes characteristic of pluripotent stem, mesenchymal, and endothelial cells. As expected, HemSCs expressed NANOG, OCT4, and SOX2, which are transcription factors known to maintain pluripotency and have been implicated in various malignancies.²⁴⁴⁻²⁴⁶ In a seminal study, SOX2 in conjunction with OCT4, c-MYC, and KLF4 was found to be sufficient for producing induced pluripotent stem cells from mouse cells.²⁴⁷ Furthermore, hypermethylation of binding sites and downregulation of SOX2 and OCT4 strips pluripotency in germ cells.²⁴⁸ In my studies, I also show that HemSCs expressed the pluripotency markers PODXL and DPPA4, which reaffirms their multipotential capabilities.

Despite being selected for CD133, relative expression of this gene was undetectable in all cell types. However, previous studies have reported that CD133+ progenitor cells no longer express CD133 antigens once they adhere in culture.²⁴⁹⁻²⁵¹ I also found that HemSCs expressed markers typically associated with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Given the ability of IH-derived cells to differentiate into adipocytes during the involuting phase, this finding is not surprising. When cultured with respective induction media, HemSCs demonstrate the ability to differentiate into all mesenchymal cell types; namely,

adipocytes, chondrocytes, and osteocytes.⁵⁴ Indeed, my adipogenic differentiation studies showed that HemSCs formed lipid droplets after several days in induction media, and expressed transcription factors essential for adipogenic differentiation.²⁵²

Interestingly, despite possessing a stem cell phenotype, HemSCs expressed endothelial genes including CD34, VEGFR2/KDR and CD31. This may be indicative of EC priming in HemSCs, as reinforced by their ability to generate blood vessels *in vivo*.⁵⁴ As co-expression of stem and endothelial markers has been exhibited in cells undergoing EHT, I wanted to explore this further by detecting the expression of genes associated with hematopoiesis. My RT-PCR data indicates that HemSCs express some factors of EHT. Namely, ETV6, RUNX1, GATA2, and GPR56 were consistently expressed in all three HemSC cultures derived from separate patients. The presence of hematopoietic factors was further reinforced by my cell staining experiments in which HemSCs showed immunopositivity for RUNX1, GPR56 and CD150. Collectively, this suggests that HemSCs express markers characteristic of hematopoietic lineages *in vitro*.

I then sought to determine whether my findings in culture paralleled those in IH tissue. I discovered that cells in proliferating IH samples express markers of HSCs. Being transcription factors, RUNX1 and GATA2 showed nuclear localization in IH specimens marking both vessel-lining ECs and interstitial cells. However, GPR56, CD45 and CD150 exclusively co-localized with IH endothelium. As CD45 is a well-established, HSC-specific marker, my findings could suggest that HemECs are undergoing an EHT-like mechanism or at a minimum, have the signaling machinery intact. Moreover, the co-expression of CD45 and CD150 implies a mature HSC phenotype.¹⁷⁷ The likely event taking place here is that ECs lining IH vessels have an atypical, immature, and stem cell-like phenotype. There also is the possibility that ECs in IHs are dedifferentiating in an EHT-like manner. The ability of ECs to transition into another cell type is reminiscent of endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndMT) seen in cancer,²⁵³⁻²⁵⁵ and numerous studies have reported the interconversion of non-cancer cells into cancer stem cells (CSCs).²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁸ This switch can be due to genetic manipulation,²⁴⁶ changes in the tumour microenvironment,²⁵⁷ hypoxia,²⁵⁹ or upon therapeutic stress, such as pharmacological

therapy.²⁶⁰ Considering that hypoxia and CVS have been linked to IH,⁸⁸ these extrinsic factors may induce cell-fate changes in IH cells.

The co-expression of HSC markers in IH endothelium has never been shown before; however, the lack of hematopoietic potential in these HemSCs demands further exploration. Despite expressing markers of mature HSCs and EHT, my studies show that HemSCs are unable to form BFUs in hematopoietic induction media. There are two possible explanations. First, in vitro culture of cells may have affected them. This could be in the form of ageing, differentiation, or lack of signals which are normally experienced *in vivo*. The fate of HSCs is known to be regulated by cytokines, adhesion molecules, and interaction with stromal cells in their respective niches.^{147,185,261} For example, IFN- γ and TNF- α have been shown to inhibit hematopoiesis *in vitro*.²⁶² Additionally, activation of NOTCH1 inhibits HSC differentiation into granulocytes and erythrocytes by stimulating GATA2 activity.²⁶³ Hence modulation of these pathways and many others may explain the lack of hematopoietic activity observed in IH-derived cells. The second possibility, of course, is that hematopoietic activity in HemSCs may be inhibited (ie. these cells are primed to differentiate into ECs and adipocytes but not hematopoietic cells). As our knowledge of which pathways regulate hemangiogenesis is still very limited, I believe that future studies investigating changes in the IH microenvironment as it progresses through each stage will be of great significance. One avenue to pursue is to examine the role of GATA3. GATA3 was expressed in both FLSCs and BM-MPCs but not in any of the IH cell preparations. GATA3 is a zinc-finger transcription factor that is essential for differentiation and function throughout the hematopoietic cell hierarchy and is shown to be expressed by LT-HSCs.²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁶ Increased GATA3 expression was also associated with acquisition of a HSC gene signature in a lymphoblastic leukemia cell line.²⁶⁷ It would be interesting to determine whether hematopoietic activity can be unmasked in HemSCs upon induced expression of GATA3.

Though much of my work suggests an atypical precursor-like phenotype of ECs in IHs, alternatively, one can speculate that HemSCs expressing HSC markers may be homing to vessels of the developing IH, where interaction with cells and secreted factors propels the HemSCs to endothelial commitment.^{78,268} Prior studies done in both our laboratory and in

others have repeatedly demonstrated the robust vasculogenic power of HemSCs in *vivo*.^{54,269,270} High-throughput phenotypic and genotypic analyses also indicate that HemSCs highly express markers for vasculogenesis and angiogenesis.⁹⁸ Given that stem/progenitor cell trafficking is mediated by hypoxia and hypoxia-induced factors are upregulated in proliferating IH, it is not unlikely that the developing IH microenvironment is hypoxic and thus attracts circulating HemSCs.^{83,271} Once localized, nearby cells may promote endothelial differentiation. Vitiani et al (2010) have shown this effect in glioblastoma stem-like cells (GSCs).²⁷² In their study, 20-90% of ECs in glioblastoma had identical gene expression profiles as tumour cells, suggesting that most of the tumour endothelium was of stem cell origin. Furthermore, injection of GSCs into immunodeficient mice produced glioblastomas, which is reminiscent of the study done by Khan et al (2008).⁵⁴ The ability of stem cells to differentiate into ECs and form vascular networks has been described for neural stem cells,²⁷³ melanoma,²⁷⁴ breast cancer²⁷⁵ and prostate cancer,²⁷⁶ and has been coined the term 'vasculogenic mimicry'.²⁷⁴ In addition, one study showed that melanoma cells challenged to an ischemic microenvironment in vivo were able to transdifferentiate into ECs and revascularize the ischemic area.²⁷⁷ Hence, HemSCs may possibly exhibit transendothelial capabilities.

The emergence of these results then begs the question: which came first, the HemSC or the HemEC? Did HemSCs with hematopoietic potential migrate to a site propitious to EC differentiation, or do changes in the microenvironment after vasculogenesis (due to stress, inherent mutations and/or paracrine factors) induce HemECs to differentiate into HemSCs, in a process reminiscent to EHT? The complexity of this question is exacerbated by the fact that many pathways and factors involved in EHT and HSC emergence, such as VEGF, hypoxia, Wnt and NOTCH, are also heavily implicated in EC differentiation.^{100,278-283} This suggests that these pathways are inherently plastic, behaving accordingly to external signals from the microenvironment. Perhaps then, HemSCs may give rise to a population of hemogenic ECs that later, under the right conditions, are able to revert to a stem cell-like phenotype in order to help propagate the growth of the developing IH. Regardless of whether this insight bears any truth, it is clear that there is still much to learn regarding the origin of IH and how it develops. My studies show that IH is a complex and dynamic disease, potentially involving mechanisms that have never

been considered before. Understanding the effects of various pathways, the IH microenvironment, and cell plasticity will not only have implications in IH management, but also in prevention, perhaps by manipulating forces involved in HemSC emergence and therefore IH development.

4.2 Limitations

All studies have limitations. In my cell culture experiments, CD133 selection was used to isolate putative stem cells from IHs and FL. My RT-PCR experiments revealed that CD133 mRNA was absent in all cell types, even those that were purified based on CD133 expression. Although the loss of CD133 expression once CD133+ cells have adhered in culture has been published in the literature,²⁴⁹⁻²⁵¹ cells utilized in my experiments were of higher passage number (6 to 10), and thus may not demonstrate true stem or progenitor behaviour. Furthermore, CD133-selected BM cells were not used. CD133-selected cells from human BM samples were cultured but did not yield sufficient cell numbers required to perform all gene expression and staining experiments. This may be due to the fact that most CD133-expressing cells in the adult marrow are HSCs which do not adhere to tissue culture plastic. In addition, my FLSC and BM-MPC cultures did not contain an appropriate tissue representation in my *in situ* immunohistochemical analyses, due to limited FL and BM tissue samples. As a result, my marker expression studies comparing HemSCs, FLSCs and BM-MPCs was limited to gene analysis and differentiation potential experiments.

Lastly, not utilizing the animal model of IH which was developed in our laboratory is a limitation. It would be beneficial to compare the differential expression of hematopoietic genes in HemSCs to the *in vivo* ability of cells to home to the marrow, produce IH lesions, and determine whether this correlates to the involutive process in IH.

4.3 Future Directions

The discovery of hematopoietic marker expression in HemSCs provides novel insight as to the potential mechanisms at play in IH pathogenesis. Given that IHs are vascular lesions and that HemSCs can differentiate into endothelial but not hematopoietic cells, it would be valuable to investigate the process by which hematopoiesis is suppressed in HemSCs. Future studies can be divided into two series: studies which immediately build on the findings of my study, and studies which provide a more broader perspective. Studies that should immediately build on the results presented here include determining whether freshly isolated and purified HemSCs exhibit hematopoietic activity. This study will address the concern of prolonged *in vitro* culture of IH cells. Next, I propose that knockdown experiments be utilized for genes involved in EHT. As I have shown above, certain markers of EHT are expressed in HemSCs and proliferating IH tissue. Using RNA interference or CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene knockout, the effects of depleting RUNX1, GATA2, and GPR56 on HemSC growth and differentiation can be elucidated.

The strong immunopositivity exhibited by GPR56 demands further investigation into its role in hematopoiesis and EHT. Although numerous reports state that GPR56 is an essential regulator of HSC generation, a recent study by Rao et al (2015) shows that it is actually dispensable for the development and maintenance of HSCs.¹⁶⁸ Therefore more studies are needed in order to elucidate the role of GPR56 in hematopoiesis and ultimately IH.

Other studies which highlight a broader perspective and bring together other discoveries in our laboratory include examining the role of T-box transcription factor 2 (TBX2) in hematopoiesis. Our laboratory has shown that knockdown of TBX2 upregulates expression of hematopoietic marker CD45 and downregulates endothelial marker CD34,²⁴⁰ which is reminiscent of EHT. Furthermore, TBX2 overexpression enhanced adipogenesis in HemSCs.²⁸⁴ Future studies may explore the relationship between TBX2 and hematopoiesis by looking at TBX2 and EHT marker co-expression in involuting and involuted IH specimens.
Another pathway that is involved in IH and that has also been heavily implicated in EHT is the NOTCH signaling pathway. NOTCH plays an important role in vascular development and tumour angiogenesis.^{70,285-287} Both proliferating and involuting IHs have been shown to express NOTCH1, NOTCH3, NOTCH4, and its ligands JAGGED1 and DLL4.^{288,289} Furthermore, NOTCH expression changes based on the stage of IH as well as cell type. A study by Wu et al (2010) reported NOTCH3 upregulation in HemSCs, while HemECs expressed NOTCH1 and NOTCH4.²⁸⁸ Notably, NOTCH1 plays a pivotal role in HSC emergence and self-renewal,^{290,291} and mediates endothelial and hematopoietic lineage specification in mesodermal progenitor cells.²⁸⁰ One of the major regulators of NOTCH signaling is the VEGF pathway, which is a well-established mediator of IH pathogenesis.²⁹² Based on this data, I anticipate that altering NOTCH signaling in HemSCs may have significant implications on their ability to differentiate into various cell lineages, especially hematopoietic.

References

- 1. Kilcline, C. & Frieden, I.J. Infantile hemangiomas: how common are they? A systematic review of the medical literature. *Pediatric dermatology* **25**, 168-173 (2008).
- 2. Hoornweg, M.J., Smeulders, M.J., Ubbink, D.T. & van der Horst, C.M. The prevalence and risk factors of infantile haemangiomas: a case-control study in the Dutch population. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology* **26**, 156-162 (2012).
- 3. Drolet, B.A., Esterly, N.B. & Frieden, I.J. Hemangiomas in children. *N Engl J Med* **341**, 173-181 (1999).
- Dickison, P., Christou, E. & Wargon, O. A prospective study of infantile hemangiomas with a focus on incidence and risk factors. *Pediatric dermatology* 28, 663-669 (2011).
- 5. Haggstrom, A.N., *et al.* Prospective study of infantile hemangiomas: clinical characteristics predicting complications and treatment. *Pediatrics* **118**, 882-887 (2006).
- 6. Drolet, B.A., Swanson, E.A., Frieden, I.J. & Group, H.I. Infantile hemangiomas: an emerging health issue linked to an increased rate of low birth weight infants. *The Journal of pediatrics* **153**, 712-715. e711 (2008).
- 7. Munden, A., *et al.* Prospective study of infantile hemangiomas: Incidence, clinical characteristics, and association with placental anomalies. *The British journal of dermatology* **170**, 907-913 (2014).
- 8. Group, T.H.I., *et al.* Prospective study of infantile hemangiomas: demographic, prenatal, and perinatal characteristics. *The Journal of pediatrics* **150**, 291-294 (2007).
- 9. Zheng, J.W., *et al.* A practical guide to treatment of infantile hemangiomas of the head and neck. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine* **6**, 851-860 (2013).
- 10. Zheng, J.W., *et al.* A practical guide to treatment of infantile hemangiomas of the head and neck. *Int J Clin Exp Med* **6**, 851-860 (2013).
- 11. Sethuraman, G., Yenamandra, V.K. & Gupta, V. Management of Infantile Hemangiomas: Current Trends. *Journal of Cutaneous and Aesthetic Surgery* 7, 75-85 (2014).

- 12. Chiller, K.G. Hemangiomas of Infancy Clinical Characteristics, Morphologic Subtypes, and Their Relationship to Race, Ethnicity, and Sex. *Archives of dermatology (1960)* **138**, 1567 (2002).
- 13. Darrow, D.H., *et al.* Diagnosis and Management of Infantile Hemangioma. *Pediatrics* **136**, e1060-1104 (2015).
- Frieden, I.J., Reese, V. & Cohen, D. Phace syndrome: The association of posterior fossa brain malformations, hemangiomas, arterial anomalies, coarctation of the aorta and cardiac defects, and eye abnormalities. *Archives of Dermatology* 132, 307-311 (1996).
- 15. Cheng, C.E. & Friedlander, S.F. Infantile hemangiomas, complications and treatments. *Semin Cutan Med Surg* **35**, 108-116 (2016).
- 16. Gnarra, M., *et al.* History of the infantile hepatic hemangioma: From imaging to generating a differential diagnosis. *World Journal of Clinical Pediatrics* **5**, 273 (2016).
- 17. Chang, L.C., *et al.* Growth characteristics of infantile hemangiomas: implications for management. *Pediatrics* **122**, 360-367 (2008).
- 18. Leonardi-Bee, J., Batta, K., O'Brien, C. & Bath-Hextall, F.J. Interventions for infantile haemangiomas (strawberry birthmarks) of the skin. *The Cochrane Library* (2011).
- 19. Ritter, M.R., Butschek, R.A., Friedlander, M. & Friedlander, S.F. Pathogenesis of infantile haemangioma: new molecular and cellular insights. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine* **9**, 1-19 (2007).
- 20. Kleiman, A., Keats, E.C., Chan, N.G. & Khan, Z.A. Evolution of hemangioma endothelium. *Experimental and molecular pathology* **93**, 264-272 (2012).
- 21. North, P.E., Waner, M., Mizeracki, A. & Mihm, M.C. GLUT1: a newly discovered immunohistochemical marker for juvenile hemangiomas. *Human pathology* **31**, 11-22 (2000).
- 22. Hoeger, P.H., *et al.* Treatment of infantile haemangiomas: recommendations of a European expert group. *European journal of pediatrics* **174**, 855-865 (2015).
- 23. Bauland, C.G., Lüning, T.H., Smit, J.M., Zeebregts, C.J. & Spauwen, P.H. Untreated hemangiomas: growth pattern and residual lesions. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* **127**, 1643-1648 (2011).
- Boscolo, E. & Bischoff, J. Vasculogenesis in infantile hemangioma. *Angiogenesis* 12, 197-207 (2009).

- 25. Marler, J.J. & Mulliken, J.B. Current management of hemangiomas and vascular malformations. *Clinics in plastic surgery* **32**, 99-116 (2005).
- 26. Mulliken, J.B., Burrows, P.E. & Fishman, S.J. *Mulliken and Young's vascular anomalies: hemangiomas and malformations*, (Oxford University Press, 2013).
- 27. Léauté-Labrèze, C., *et al.* Propranolol for Severe Hemangiomas of Infancy. *New England Journal of Medicine* **358**, 2649-2651 (2008).
- Izadpanah, A., Izadpanah, A., Kanevsky, J., Belzile, E. & Schwarz, K. Propranolol versus Corticosteroids in the Treatment of Infantile Hemangioma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 131, 601-613 (2013).
- 29. Chinnadurai, S., *et al.* Pharmacologic Interventions for Infantile Hemangioma: A Meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* **137**(2016).
- 30. Storch, C.H. & Hoeger, P.H. Propranolol for infantile haemangiomas: insights into the molecular mechanisms of action. *British Journal of Dermatology* **163**, 269-274 (2010).
- 31. Ji, Y., Chen, S., Xu, C., Li, L. & Xiang, B. The use of propranolol in the treatment of infantile haemangiomas: an update on potential mechanisms of action. *The British journal of dermatology* **172**, 24-32 (2015).
- 32. Nieuwenhuis, K., de Laat, P.C., Janmohamed, S.R., Madern, G.C. & Oranje, A.P. Infantile hemangioma: treatment with short course systemic corticosteroid therapy as an alternative for propranolol. *Pediatric dermatology* **30**, 64-70 (2013).
- 33. Chen, T.S., Eichenfield, L.F. & Friedlander, S.F. Infantile Hemangiomas: An Update on Pathogenesis and Therapy. *Pediatrics* **131**, 99-108 (2013).
- 34. David, L.R., Malek, M.M. & Argenta, L.C. Efficacy of pulse dye laser therapy for the treatment of ulcerated haemangiomas: a review of 78 patients. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* **56**, 317-327 (2003).
- 35. Khan, Z.A., *et al.* Endothelial progenitor cells from infantile hemangioma and umbilical cord blood display unique cellular responses to endostatin. *Blood* **108**, 915-921 (2006).
- 36. Yu, Y., Flint, A.F., Mulliken, J.B., Wu, J.K. & Bischoff, J. Endothelial progenitor cells in infantile hemangioma. *Blood* **103**, 1373-1375 (2004).
- 37. Smoller, B.R. & Apfelberg, D.B. Infantile (juvenile) capillary hemangioma: a tumor of heterogeneous cellular elements. *Journal of cutaneous pathology* **20**, 330-336 (1993).

- 38. Bergers, G.G. The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. *Neuro-oncology (Charlottesville, Va.)* **7**, 452-464 (2005).
- Li, Q. Differential expression of CD146 in tissues and endothelial cells derived from infantile haemangioma and normal human skin. *The Journal of pathology* 201, 296-302 (2003).
- 40. Ozerdem, U. NG2 proteoglycan is expressed exclusively by mural cells during vascular morphogenesis. *Developmental dynamics* **222**, 218-227 (2001).
- 41. Boscolo, E., Mulliken, J.B. & Bischoff, J. Pericytes from Infantile Hemangioma Display Pro-angiogenic Properties and Dysregulated Angiopoietin-1. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **33**, 501-509 (2013).
- 42. Spock, C.L., *et al.* Infantile hemangiomas exhibit neural crest and pericyte markers. *Annals of plastic surgery* **74**, 230-236 (2015).
- 43. Crisan, M., *et al.* A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. *Cell stem cell* **3**, 301-313 (2008).
- 44. Adepoju, O., *et al.* Expression of HES and HEY genes in infantile hemangiomas. *Vascular Cell* **3**, 19-19 (2011).
- 45. Raza, A. Pericytes and vessel maturation during tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. *American journal of hematology* **85**, 593-598 (2010).
- 46. Glowacki, J. & Mulliken, J.B. Mast cells in hemangiomas and vascular malformations. *Pediatrics* **70**, 48-51 (1982).
- 47. Tan, S.T., Wallis, R.A., He, Y. & Davis, P.F. Mast cells and hemangioma. *Plastic* and reconstructive surgery **113**, 999-1011 (2004).
- 48. Takahashi, K., *et al.* Cellular markers that distinguish the phases of hemangioma during infancy and childhood. *J Clin Invest* **93**, 2357-2364 (1994).
- 49. Hasan, Q., Tan, S.T., Gush, J., Peters, S.G. & Davis, P.F. Steroid Therapy of a Proliferating Hemangioma: Histochemical and Molecular Changes. *Pediatrics* **105**, 117-120 (2000).
- 50. Qu, Z., *et al.* Mast cells are a major source of basic fibroblast growth factor in chronic inflammation and cutaneous hemangioma. *The American Journal of Pathology* **147**, 564-573 (1995).
- 51. Sun, Z.-J. Mast cells in hemangioma: A double-edged sword. *Medical hypotheses* **68**, 805-807 (2007).

- 52. Ribatti, D. & Crivellato, E. Mast cells, angiogenesis, and tumour growth. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease* **1822**, 2-8 (2012).
- 53. Tan, S.T. Mast Cells and Hemangioma. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery (1963)* 113, 999-1011 (2004).
- 54. Khan, Z.A., *et al.* Multipotential stem cells recapitulate human infantile hemangioma in immunodeficient mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **118**, 2592-2599 (2008).
- 55. Xu, D., *et al.* Isolation, characterization, and in vitro propagation of infantile hemangioma stem cells and an in vivo mouse model. *Journal of hematology & oncology* **4**, 1 (2011).
- 56. Mai, H., *et al.* CD133 selected stem cells from proliferating infantile hemangioma and establishment of an in vivo mice model of hemangioma. *Chinese medical journal* **126**, 88-94 (2013).
- 57. Boscolo, E., *et al.* JAGGED1 Signaling Regulates Hemangioma Stem Cell-to-Pericyte/Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **31**, 2181-2192 (2011).
- 58. Ferrara, N., Gerber, H.P. & LeCouter, J. The biology of VEGF and its receptors. *Nat Med* **9**(2003).
- 59. Boscolo, E., Mulliken, J.B. & Bischoff, J. VEGFR-1 mediates endothelial differentiation and formation of blood vessels in a murine model of infantile hemangioma. *The American journal of pathology* **179**, 2266-2277 (2011).
- 60. Greenberger, S., Boscolo, E., Adini, I., Mulliken, J.B. & Bischoff, J. Corticosteroid suppression of VEGF-A in infantile hemangioma-derived stem cells. *New England Journal of Medicine* **362**, 1005-1013 (2010).
- 61. Przewratil, P., Sitkiewicz, A. & Andrzejewska, E. Local serum levels of vascular endothelial growth factor in infantile hemangioma: intriguing mechanism of endothelial growth. *Cytokine* **49**, 141-147 (2010).
- 62. Zhang, L., *et al.* Circulating level of vascular endothelial growth factor in differentiating hemangioma from vascular malformation patients. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* **116**, 200-204 (2005).
- 63. Imoukhuede, P. & Popel, A.S. Quantification and cell-to-cell variation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Experimental cell research* **317**, 955-965 (2011).

- 64. Roberts, D.M., *et al.* The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor Flt-1 (VEGFR-1) modulates Flk-1 (VEGFR-2) signaling during blood vessel formation. *The American journal of pathology* **164**, 1531-1535 (2004).
- 65. Jinnin, M., *et al.* Suppressed NFAT-dependent VEGFR1 expression and constitutive VEGFR2 signaling in infantile hemangioma. *Nature medicine* **14**, 1236-1246 (2008).
- 66. Medici, D. & Olsen, B.R. Rapamycin inhibits proliferation of hemangioma endothelial cells by reducing HIF-1-dependent expression of VEGF. *PloS one* **7**, e42913 (2012).
- 67. Lee, S., *et al.* Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell* **130**, 691-703 (2007).
- 68. Dimmeler, S. & Zeiher, A.M. Endothelial cell apoptosis in angiogenesis and vessel regression. *Circulation research* **87**, 434-439 (2000).
- 69. Greenberger, S. & Bischoff, J. Pathogenesis of infantile haemangioma. *British Journal of Dermatology* **169**, 12-19 (2013).
- 70. Liu, Z.-J., *et al.* Regulation of Notch1 and Dll4 by vascular endothelial growth factor in arterial endothelial cells: implications for modulating arteriogenesis and angiogenesis. *Molecular and cellular biology* **23**, 14-25 (2003).
- Hainaud, P., *et al.* The Role of the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor–Delta-like
 4 Ligand/Notch4-Ephrin B2 Cascade in Tumor Vessel Remodeling and
 Endothelial Cell Functions. *Cancer research* 66, 8501-8510 (2006).
- 72. Eales, K., Hollinshead, K. & Tennant, D. Hypoxia and metabolic adaptation of cancer cells. *Oncogenesis* **5**, e190 (2016).
- 73. Masson, N. & Ratcliffe, P.J. Hypoxia signaling pathways in cancer metabolism: the importance of co-selecting interconnected physiological pathways. *Cancer & metabolism* **2**, 3 (2014).
- 74. Gilkes, D.M. & Semenza, G.L. Role of hypoxia-inducible factors in breast cancer metastasis. *Future Oncology* **9**, 1623-1636 (2013).
- 75. López Gutiérrez, J.C., Avila, L.F., Sosa, G. & Patron, M. Placental anomalies in children with infantile hemangioma. *Pediatric dermatology* **24**, 353-355 (2007).
- 76. Park, S., *et al.* Selective recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells to ischemic tissues with increased neovascularization. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* **113**, 284-293 (2004).
- 77. Ji, Y., *et al.* Signaling pathways in the development of infantile hemangioma. *Journal of hematology & oncology* **7**, 1 (2014).

- 78. Ceradini, D.J., *et al.* Progenitor cell trafficking is regulated by hypoxic gradients through HIF-1 induction of SDF-1. *Nature medicine* **10**, 858-864 (2004).
- Zan, T., *et al.* Enhanced endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and function through direct manipulation of hypoxia inducible factor-1α. *Cell biochemistry and function* 33, 143-149 (2015).
- 80. Heissig, B., *et al.* Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand. *Cell* **109**, 625-637 (2002).
- Iwakura, A., *et al.* Estrogen-Mediated, Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase– Dependent Mobilization of Bone Marrow–Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells Contributes to Reendothelialization After Arterial Injury. *Circulation* 108, 3115-3121 (2003).
- 82. Strehlow, K., *et al.* Estrogen increases bone marrow–derived endothelial progenitor cell production and diminishes neointima formation. *Circulation* **107**, 3059-3065 (2003).
- 83. Kleinman, M.E., *et al.* Hypoxia-induced mediators of stem/progenitor cell trafficking are increased in children with hemangioma. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **27**, 2664-2670 (2007).
- 84. Chen, C., Pore, N., Behrooz, A., Ismail-Beigi, F. & Maity, A. Regulation of glut1 mRNA by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 Interaction between H-ras and hypoxia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**, 9519-9525 (2001).
- 85. Ahrens, W.A., Ridenour, R.V., Caron, B.L., Miller, D.V. & Folpe, A.L. GLUT-1 expression in mesenchymal tumors: an immunohistochemical study of 247 soft tissue and bone neoplasms. *Human pathology* **39**, 1519-1526 (2008).
- 86. Herbert, A., *et al.* Hypoxia regulates the production and activity of glucose transporter-1 and indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase in monocyte-derived endothelial-like cells: possible relevance to infantile haemangioma pathogenesis. *British Journal of Dermatology* **164**, 308-315 (2011).
- 87. Barnés, C.M., *et al.* Evidence by molecular profiling for a placental origin of infantile hemangioma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**, 19097-19102 (2005).
- 88. Lo, K., Mihm, M. & Fay, A. Current theories on the pathogenesis of infantile hemangioma. in *Seminars in ophthalmology*, Vol. 24 172-177 (Taylor & Francis, 2009).
- North, P.E., *et al.* Congenital nonprogressive hemangioma: a distinct clinicopathologic entity unlike infantile hemangioma. *Archives of dermatology* 137, 1607-1620 (2001).

- 90. Wang, Y. & Zhao, S. Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis of human placenta. *Vascular Biology of the Placenta*, 31-35 (2010).
- 91. Mihm, M.C. & Nelson, J.S. Hypothesis: the metastatic niche theory can elucidate infantile hemangioma development. *Journal of cutaneous pathology* **37**, 83-87 (2010).
- 92. Berg, J., *et al.* Evidence for loss of heterozygosity of 5q in sporadic haemangiomas: are somatic mutations involved in haemangioma formation? *Journal of clinical pathology* **54**, 249-252 (2001).
- 93. Walter, J.W., *et al.* Somatic mutation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors in juvenile hemangioma. *Genes, chromosomes and cancer* **33**, 295-303 (2002).
- 94. Boye, E., *et al.* Clonality and altered behavior of endothelial cells from hemangiomas. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **107**, 745-752 (2001).
- 95. Kleinman, M.E., *et al.* Increased circulating AC133+ CD34+ endothelial progenitor cells in children with hemangioma. *Lymphatic research and biology* **1**, 301-307 (2003).
- 96. Bielenberg, D.R., *et al.* Progressive growth of infantile cutaneous hemangiomas is directly correlated with hyperplasia and angiogenesis of adjacent epidermis and inversely correlated with expression of the endogenous angiogenesis inhibitor, IFN. *International journal of oncology* **14**, 401-408 (1999).
- 97. Berard, M., *et al.* Vascular endothelial growth factor confers a growth advantage in vitro and in vivo to stromal cells cultured from neonatal hemangiomas. *The American Journal of Pathology* **150**, 1315-1326 (1997).
- 98. Harbi, S., *et al.* Infantile Hemangioma Originates From A Dysregulated But Not Fully Transformed Multipotent Stem Cell. *Scientific Reports* **6**(2016).
- 99. Bauland, C.G., Smit, J.M., Bartelink, L.R., Zondervan, H.A. & Spauwen, P.H. Hemangioma in the newborn: increased incidence after chorionic villus sampling. *Prenatal diagnosis* **30**, 913-917 (2010).
- 100. Goldie, L.C., Nix, M.K. & Hirschi, K.K. Embryonic vasculogenesis and hematopoietic specification. *Organogenesis* **4**, 257-263 (2008).
- 101. Kauts, M.L., Vink, C.S. & Dzierzak, E. Hematopoietic (stem) cell development how divergent are the roads taken? *FEBS letters* **590**, 3975-3986 (2016).
- Choi, K., Kennedy, M., Kazarov, A., Papadimitriou, J.C. & Keller, G. A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. *Development* 125, 725-732 (1998).

- 103. Schatteman, G.C. & Awad, O. Hemangioblasts, angioblasts, and adult endothelial cell progenitors. *The Anatomical Record* **276**, 13-21 (2004).
- 104. Coultas, L., Chawengsaksophak, K. & Rossant, J. Endothelial cells and VEGF in vascular development. *Nature* **438**, 937-945 (2005).
- 105. Hagedorn, M., *et al.* VEGF coordinates interaction of pericytes and endothelial cells during vasculogenesis and experimental angiogenesis. *Developmental dynamics* **230**, 23-33 (2004).
- 106. Udan, R.S., Culver, J.C. & Dickinson, M.E. Understanding vascular development. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology **2**, 327-346 (2013).
- 107. Garcia, M.D. & Larina, I.V. Vascular development and hemodynamic force in the mouse yolk sac. *Frontiers in physiology* **5**, 308 (2014).
- 108. Ferguson, J., Kelley, R.W. & Patterson, C. Mechanisms of endothelial differentiation in embryonic vasculogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **25**, 2246-2254 (2005).
- Hirschi, K.K. Hemogenic endothelium during development and beyond. *Blood* 119, 4823-4827 (2012).
- 110. Medvinsky, A. & Dzierzak, E. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. *Cell* **86**, 897-906 (1996).
- 111. de Bruijn, M.F., Speck, N.A., Peeters, M.C. & Dzierzak, E. Definitive hematopoietic stem cells first develop within the major arterial regions of the mouse embryo. *The EMBO journal* **19**, 2465-2474 (2000).
- 112. Dzierzak, E. & Robin, C. Placenta as a source of hematopoietic stem cells. *Trends in molecular medicine* **16**, 361-367 (2010).
- 113. Lee, L.K., Ueno, M., Van Handel, B. & Mikkola, H.K. Placenta as a newly identified source of hematopoietic stem cells. *Current opinion in hematology* **17**, 313 (2010).
- 114. Gekas, C., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., Orkin, S.H. & Mikkola, H.K. The placenta is a niche for hematopoietic stem cells. *Developmental cell* **8**, 365-375 (2005).
- 115. Orkin, S.H. & Zon, L.I. Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. *Cell* **132**, 631-644 (2008).
- 116. Kallianpur, A.R., Jordan, J.E. & Brandt, S.J. The SCL/TAL-1 gene is expressed in progenitors of both the hematopoietic and vascular systems during embryogenesis. *Blood* **83**, 1200-1208 (1994).

- 117. Murray, P.D.F. The Development in vitro of the Blood of the Early Chick Embryo. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character* **111**, 497-521 (1932).
- 118. Maximow, I.V. VOL. IV OCTOBER, 1924 No. 4 RELATION OF BLOOD CELLS TO CONNECTIVE TISSUES AND ENDOTHELIUMI. *Physiological reviews* **4**, 533 (1924).
- 119. Young, P.E. The sialomucin CD34 is expressed on hematopoietic cells and blood vessels during murine development. *Blood* **85**, 96 (1995).
- 120. Eichmann, A., *et al.* Ligand-dependent development of the endothelial and hemopoietic lineages from embryonic mesodermal cells expressing vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **94**, 5141-5146 (1997).
- 121. Kennedy, M., *et al.* A common precursor for primitive erythropoiesis and definitive haematopoiesis. *Nature* **386**, 488-493 (1997).
- 122. Chung, Y.S., *et al.* Lineage analysis of the hemangioblast as defined by FLK1 and SCL expression. *Development* **129**, 5511-5520 (2002).
- 123. Shalaby, F., *et al.* Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* **376**, 62-66 (1995).
- 124. Nishikawa, S.-I., Nishikawa, S., Hirashima, M., Matsuyoshi, N. & Kodama, H. Progressive lineage analysis by cell sorting and culture identifies FLK1+ VEcadherin+ cells at a diverging point of endothelial and hemopoietic lineages. *Development* 125, 1747-1757 (1998).
- 125. Vogeli, K.M., Jin, S.-W., Martin, G.R. & Stainier, D.Y. A common progenitor for haematopoietic and endothelial lineages in the zebrafish gastrula. *Nature* **443**, 337-339 (2006).
- 126. Kennedy, M., D'Souza, S.L., Lynch-Kattman, M., Schwantz, S. & Keller, G. Development of the hemangioblast defines the onset of hematopoiesis in human ES cell differentiation cultures. *Blood* **109**, 2679-2687 (2007).
- 127. Lu, S.-J., *et al.* Generation of functional hemangioblasts from human embryonic stem cells. *Nature methods* **4**, 501-509 (2007).
- 128. Lacaud, G., *et al.* Runx1 is essential for hematopoietic commitment at the hemangioblast stage of development in vitro. *Blood* **100**, 458-466 (2002).
- 129. Lugus, J.J., *et al.* GATA2 functions at multiple steps in hemangioblast development and differentiation. *Development* **134**, 393-405 (2007).

- 130. Robertson, S.M., Kennedy, M., Shannon, J.M. & Keller, G. A transitional stage in the commitment of mesoderm to hematopoiesis requiring the transcription factor SCL/tal-1. *Development* **127**, 2447-2459 (2000).
- 131. Park, C., *et al.* A hierarchical order of factors in the generation of FLK1-and SCLexpressing hematopoietic and endothelial progenitors from embryonic stem cells. *Development* **131**, 2749-2762 (2004).
- 132. Ema, M., *et al.* Combinatorial effects of Flk1 and Tal1 on vascular and hematopoietic development in the mouse. *Genes & development* **17**, 380-393 (2003).
- 133. de Muinck, E.D., Thompson, C. & Simons, M. Progress and prospects: cell based regenerative therapy for cardiovascular disease. *Gene therapy* **13**, 659-671 (2006).
- 134. Loges, S., *et al.* Identification of the adult human hemangioblast. *Stem cells and development* **13**, 229-242 (2004).
- 135. Grant, M.B., *et al.* Adult hematopoietic stem cells provide functional hemangioblast activity during retinal neovascularization. *Nature medicine* **8**, 607 (2002).
- 136. Swiers, G., Speck, N.A. & de Bruijn, M.F. Visualizing blood cell emergence from aortic endothelium. *Cell stem cell* **6**, 289-290 (2010).
- 137. Zovein, A.C., *et al.* Fate tracing reveals the endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* **3**, 625-636 (2008).
- 138. Mizuochi, C., *et al.* Intra-aortic clusters undergo endothelial to hematopoietic phenotypic transition during early embryogenesis. *PloS one* **7**, e35763 (2012).
- 139. Kissa, K. & Herbomel, P. Blood stem cells emerge from aortic endothelium by a novel type of cell transition. *Nature* **464**, 112-115 (2010).
- 140. Fang, J.S., Gritz, E.C., Marcelo, K.L. & Hirschi, K.K. Isolation of Murine Embryonic Hemogenic Endothelial Cells. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE* (2016).
- 141. Costa, G., Kouskoff, V. & Lacaud, G. Origin of blood cells and HSC production in the embryo. *Trends in Immunology* **33**, 215-223 (2012)
-).
- 142. Oberlin, E., Tavian, M., Blazsek, I. & Péault, B. Blood-forming potential of vascular endothelium in the human embryo. *Development* **129**, 4147-4157 (2002).

- 143. Bohnsack, B.L., Lai, L., Dolle, P. & Hirschi, K.K. Signaling hierarchy downstream of retinoic acid that independently regulates vascular remodeling and endothelial cell proliferation. *Genes & development* **18**, 1345-1358 (2004).
- 144. Jaffredo, T., *et al.* From hemangioblast to hematopoietic stem cell: an endothelial connection? *Experimental hematology* **33**, 1029-1040 (2005).
- 145. Lancrin, C., *et al.* The haemangioblast generates haematopoietic cells through a haemogenic endothelium stage. *Nature* **457**, 892-895 (2009).
- 146. Kim, A.D., Stachura, D.L. & Traver, D. Cell signaling pathways involved in hematopoietic stem cell specification. *Experimental cell research* **329**, 227-233 (2014).
- 147. Zhang, C.C. & Lodish, H.F. Cytokines regulating hematopoietic stem cell function. *Current opinion in hematology* **15**, 307 (2008).
- 148. Lichtinger, M., *et al.* RUNX1 reshapes the epigenetic landscape at the onset of haematopoiesis. *The EMBO Journal* **31**, 4318-4333 (2012).
- 149. Reynaud, D., *et al.* SCL/TAL1 expression level regulates human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and engraftment. *Blood* **106**, 2318-2328 (2005).
- 150. Saito, Y., *et al.* Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool in bone marrow niches by EVI1-regulated GPR56. *Leukemia* **27**, 1637-1649 (2013).
- 151. North, T.E., *et al.* Runx1 expression marks long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells in the midgestation mouse embryo. *Immunity* **16**, 661-672 (2002).
- 152. Ottersbach, K. & Dzierzak, E. The murine placenta contains hematopoietic stem cells within the vascular labyrinth region. *Developmental cell* **8**, 377-387 (2005).
- 153. Okuda, T., van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S.W., Grosveld, G. & Downing, J.R. AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. *Cell* **84**, 321-330 (1996).
- 154. Boisset, J.-C., *et al.* In vivo imaging of haematopoietic cells emerging from the mouse aortic endothelium. *Nature* **464**, 116-120 (2010).
- 155. Ichikawa, M., *et al.* AML-1 is required for megakaryocytic maturation and lymphocytic differentiation, but not for maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells in adult hematopoiesis. *Nature medicine* **10**, 299-304 (2004).
- 156. Kaimakis, P., *et al.* Functional and molecular characterization of mouse Gata2independent hematopoietic progenitors. *Blood* **127**, 1426-1437 (2016).
- 157. Tsai, F.-Y., *et al.* An early haematopoietic defect in mice lacking the transcription factor GATA-2. *Nature* **371**, 221 (1994).

- 158. Ling, K.-W., *et al.* GATA-2 plays two functionally distinct roles during the ontogeny of hematopoietic stem cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **200**, 871-882 (2004).
- 159. Persons, D., *et al.* Enforced expression of the GATA-2 transcription factor blocks normal hematopoiesis. *Blood* **93**(1999).
- 160. Tipping, A., *et al.* High GATA-2 expression inhibits human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell function by effects on cell cycle. *Blood* **113**(2009).
- 161. Rodrigues, N.P., *et al.* Haploinsufficiency of GATA-2 perturbs adult hematopoietic stem-cell homeostasis. *Blood* **106**, 477-484 (2005).
- 162. Kamata, M., *et al.* GATA2 regulates differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *haematologica*, haematol. 2014.105692 (2014).
- 163. Wilson, N.K., *et al.* Combinatorial transcriptional control in blood stem/progenitor cells: genome-wide analysis of ten major transcriptional regulators. *Cell stem cell* **7**, 532-544 (2010).
- 164. Beck, D., *et al.* Genome-wide analysis of transcriptional regulators in human HSPCs reveals a densely interconnected network of coding and noncoding genes. *Blood* **122**, e12-e22 (2013).
- 165. Göttgens, B., *et al.* Establishing the transcriptional programme for blood: the SCL stem cell enhancer is regulated by a multiprotein complex containing Ets and GATA factors. *The EMBO journal* **21**, 3039-3050 (2002).
- 166. Solaimani Kartalaei, P., *et al.* Whole-transcriptome analysis of endothelial to hematopoietic stem cell transition reveals a requirement for Gpr56 in HSC generation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* (2014).
- Holmfeldt, P., *et al.* Functional screen identifies regulators of murine hematopoietic stem cell repopulation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 213, 433-449 (2016).
- 168. Rao, T.N., *et al.* High-level Gpr56 expression is dispensable for the maintenance and function of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in mice. *Stem cell research* **14**, 307-322 (2015).
- 169. Zovein, A.C., *et al.* Fate tracing reveals the endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell stem cell* **3**, 625-636 (2008).
- 170. Kim, I., Yilmaz, Ö.H. & Morrison, S.J. CD144 (VE-cadherin) is transiently expressed by fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood* **106**, 903-905 (2005).

- 171. Garcia-Porrero, J.A., *et al.* Antigenic profiles of endothelial and hemopoietic lineages in murine intraembryonic hemogenic sites. *Dev Comp Immunol* **22**, 303-319 (1998).
- 172. Shaw, J., Basch, R. & Shamamian, P. Hematopoietic stem cells and endothelial cell precursors express Tie-2, CD31 and CD45. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases* **32**, 168-175 (2004).
- Jaffredo, T., Gautier, R., Eichmann, A. & Dieterlen-Lievre, F. Intraaortic hemopoietic cells are derived from endothelial cells during ontogeny. *Development* 125, 4575-4583 (1998).
- 174. Marshall, C.J. & Thrasher, A.J. The embryonic origins of human haematopoiesis. *Br J Haematol* **112**, 838-850 (2001).
- 175. de Pater, E., *et al.* Gata2 is required for HSC generation and survival. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* **210**, 2843-2850 (2013).
- 176. Shin, J.Y., Hu, W., Naramura, M. & Park, C.Y. High c-Kit expression identifies hematopoietic stem cells with impaired self-renewal and megakaryocytic bias. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, jem. 20131128 (2014).
- 177. McKinney-Freeman, S.L., *et al.* Surface antigen phenotypes of hematopoietic stem cells from embryos and murine embryonic stem cells. *Blood* **114**, 268-278 (2009).
- Sánchez, M.-J., Holmes, A., Miles, C. & Dzierzak, E. Characterization of the first definitive hematopoietic stem cells in the AGM and liver of the mouse embryo. *Immunity* 5, 513-526 (1996).
- 179. Baron, M.H., Isern, J. & Fraser, S.T. The embryonic origins of erythropoiesis in mammals. *Blood* **119**, 4828-4837 (2012).
- 180. SJ, C.G.J.E.M. Adult haematopoietic stem cell niches. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (2017).
- 181. Chou, S. & Lodish, H.F. Fetal liver hepatic progenitors are supportive stromal cells for hematopoietic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **107**, 7799-7804 (2010).
- 182. Sawitza, I., Kordes, C., Reister, S. & Häussinger, D. The niche of stellate cells within rat liver. *Hepatology* **50**, 1617-1624 (2009).
- 183. Schweitzer, K.M., *et al.* Constitutive expression of E-selectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 on endothelial cells of hematopoietic tissues. *The American journal of pathology* **148**, 165 (1996).

- 184. Iwasaki, H., Arai, F., Kubota, Y., Dahl, M. & Suda, T. Endothelial protein C receptor–expressing hematopoietic stem cells reside in the perisinusoidal niche in fetal liver. *Blood* **116**, 544-553 (2010).
- 185. Khan, J.A., *et al.* Fetal liver hematopoietic stem cell niches associate with portal vessels. *Science* **351**, 176-180 (2016).
- 186. Si-Tayeb, K., Lemaigre, F.P. & Duncan, S.A. Organogenesis and development of the liver. *Developmental cell* **18**, 175-189 (2010).
- 187. Goldman, O., *et al.* Endoderm generates endothelial cells during liver development. *Stem cell reports* **3**, 556-565 (2014).
- Peichev, M., *et al.* Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34+ cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. *Blood* 95, 952-958 (2000).
- 189. Shi, Q., *et al.* Evidence for circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial cells. *Blood* **92**, 362-367 (1998).
- 190. Cherqui, S., *et al.* Isolation and angiogenesis by endothelial progenitors in the fetal liver. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* **24**, 44-54 (2006).
- 191. Cañete, A., *et al.* Characterization of a Fetal Liver Cell Population Endowed with Long-Term Multiorgan Endothelial Reconstitution Potential. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* (2016).
- 192. Gouysse, G., *et al.* Relationship between vascular development and vascular differentiation during liver organogenesis in humans. *Journal of hepatology* **37**, 730-740 (2002).
- 193. Mikkola, H.K. & Orkin, S.H. The journey of developing hematopoietic stem cells. *Development* **133**, 3733-3744 (2006).
- 194. Coşkun, S., *et al.* Development of the fetal bone marrow niche and regulation of HSC quiescence and homing ability by emerging osteolineage cells. *Cell reports* 9, 581-590 (2014).
- 195. Kiel, M.J., *et al.* SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. *Cell* **121**, 1109-1121 (2005).
- 196. Calvi, L., *et al.* Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nature* **425**, 841-846 (2003).
- 197. Yin, T. & Li, L. The stem cell niches in bone. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **116**, 1195-1201 (2006).

- 198. Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G. & Morrison, S.J. Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* **481**, 457-462 (2012).
- 199. Abumaree, M.H., *et al.* Phenotypic and Functional Characterization of Mesenchymal Stem Cells from Chorionic Villi of Human Term Placenta. *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports* **9**, 16-31 (2013).
- 200. Méndez-Ferrer, S., *et al.* Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. *nature* **466**, 829-834 (2010).
- 201. Mattiucci, D., *et al.* Bone marrow adipocytes support haematopoietic stem cell survival. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* (2017).
- 202. Yamazaki, S., *et al.* Nonmyelinating Schwann cells maintain hematopoietic stem cell hibernation in the bone marrow niche. *Cell* **147**, 1146-1158 (2011).
- 203. Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Noda, M. & Nagasawa, T. Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. *Immunity* **25**, 977-988 (2006).
- 204. Greenbaum, A., *et al.* CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. *Nature* **495**, 227-230 (2013).
- 205. Parmar, K., Mauch, P., Vergilio, J.-A., Sackstein, R. & Down, J.D. Distribution of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow according to regional hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104**, 5431-5436 (2007).
- 206. Eliasson, P. & Jönsson, J.I. The hematopoietic stem cell niche: low in oxygen but a nice place to be. *Journal of cellular physiology* **222**, 17-22 (2010).
- 207. Takubo, K., *et al.* Regulation of the HIF-1α level is essential for hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell stem cell* **7**, 391-402 (2010).
- 208. Kirito, K., Fox, N., Komatsu, N. & Kaushansky, K. Thrombopoietin enhances expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in primitive hematopoietic cells through induction of HIF-1α. *Blood* **105**, 4258-4263 (2005).
- 209. Han, Z.-B., *et al.* Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1α directly enhances the transcriptional activity of stem cell factor (SCF) in response to hypoxia and epidermal growth factor (EGF). *Carcinogenesis* **29**, 1853-1861 (2008).
- 210. Barnhart, B.C. & Simon, M.C. Metastasis and stem cell pathways. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 26, 261-271 (2007).
- 211. Eliasson, P., *et al.* Hypoxia mediates low cell-cycle activity and increases the proportion of long-term–reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells during in vitro culture. *Experimental hematology* **38**, 301-310. e302 (2010).

- Wierenga, A.T., Vellenga, E. & Schuringa, J.J. Convergence of hypoxia and TGFβ pathways on cell cycle regulation in human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *PLoS One* 9, e93494 (2014).
- 213. Suda, T., Takubo, K. & Semenza, G.L. Metabolic regulation of hematopoietic stem cells in the hypoxic niche. *Cell stem cell* **9**, 298-310 (2011).
- 214. Jang, Y.-Y. & Sharkis, S.J. A low level of reactive oxygen species selects for primitive hematopoietic stem cells that may reside in the low-oxygenic niche. *Blood* **110**, 3056-3063 (2007).
- 215. Takahashi, T., *et al.* Ischemia-and cytokine-induced mobilization of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization. *Nature medicine* **5**, 434-438 (1999).
- 216. Asahara, T., *et al.* Bone marrow origin of endothelial progenitor cells responsible for postnatal vasculogenesis in physiological and pathological neovascularization. *Circulation research* **85**, 221-228 (1999).
- 217. Taniguchi, E., *et al.* Endothelial progenitor cell transplantation improves the survival following liver injury in mice. *Gastroenterology* **130**, 521-531 (2006).
- 218. Kawamoto, A., *et al.* Intramyocardial transplantation of autologous endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization of myocardial ischemia. *Circulation* **107**, 461-468 (2003).
- 219. Dekel, B., *et al.* Transplantation of human hematopoietic stem cells into ischemic and growing kidneys suggests a role in vasculogenesis but not tubulogenesis. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* **24**, 1185-1193 (2006).
- 220. de Bont, E.S., *et al.* Mobilized human CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells enhance tumor growth in a nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient mouse model of human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Cancer research* **61**, 7654-7659 (2001).
- 221. Cao, N. & Yao, Z.X. The hemangioblast: from concept to authentication. *The Anatomical Record* **294**, 580-588 (2011).
- Martinez-Agosto, J.A., Mikkola, H.K., Hartenstein, V. & Banerjee, U. The hematopoietic stem cell and its niche: a comparative view. *Genes & development* 21, 3044-3060 (2007).
- 223. Bollerot, K., Pouget, C. & Jaffredo, T. The embryonic origins of hematopoietic stem cells: a tale of hemangioblast and hemogenic endothelium. *APMIS* **113**(2005).

- 224. Gritz, E. & Hirschi, K.K. Specification and function of hemogenic endothelium during embryogenesis. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **73**, 1547-1567 (2016).
- 225. Bailey, A.S. & Fleming, W.H. Converging roads: evidence for an adult hemangioblast. *Experimental hematology* **31**, 987-993 (2003).
- 226. Bailey, A.S., *et al.* Transplanted adult hematopoietic stems cells differentiate into functional endothelial cells. *Blood* **103**, 13-19 (2004).
- 227. Cogle, C.R., *et al.* Adult human hematopoietic cells provide functional hemangioblast activity. *Blood* **103**, 133-135 (2004).
- 228. Holthofer, H., *et al.* Ulex europaeus I lectin as a marker for vascular endothelium in human tissues. *Lab Invest* **47**, 60-66 (1982).
- 229. Tang, Q.Q., Otto, T.C. & Lane, M.D. Mitotic clonal expansion: a synchronous process required for adipogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 44-49 (2003).
- 230. Rodda, D.J., *et al.* Transcriptional regulation of nanog by OCT4 and SOX2. *J Biol Chem* **280**(2005).
- 231. Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *cell* **126**, 663-676 (2006).
- 232. Frelin, C., *et al.* GATA-3 regulates the self-renewal of long-term hematopoietic stem cells. *Nat Immunol* **14**, 1037-1044 (2013).
- 233. Gao, X., *et al.* Gata2 cis-element is required for hematopoietic stem cell generation in the mammalian embryo. *J Exp Med* **210**(2013).
- 234. Shashidhar, S., *et al.* GPR56 is a GPCR that is overexpressed in gliomas and functions in tumor cell adhesion. *Oncogene* **24**, 1673-1682 (2005).
- 235. Hahn, T., *et al.* Placental glucose transporter expression is regulated by glucocorticoids. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **84**, 1445-1452 (1999).
- 236. Godfraind, C., Calicchio, M.L. & Kozakewich, H. Pyogenic granuloma, an impaired wound healing process, linked to vascular growth driven by FLT4 and the nitric oxide pathway. *Mod Pathol* **26**, 247-255 (2013).
- 237. Blackwell, M.G., Itinteang, T., Chibnall, A.M., Davis, P.F. & Tan, S.T. Expression of embryonic stem cell markers in pyogenic granuloma. *J Cutan Pathol* **43**, 1096-1101 (2016).

- 238. Schuster, C., *et al.* HLA-DR+ leukocytes acquire CD1 antigens in embryonic and fetal human skin and contain functional antigen-presenting cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **206**, 169-181 (2009).
- 239. Schuster, C., *et al.* Phenotypic characterization of leukocytes in prenatal human dermis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **132**, 2581-2592 (2012).
- 240. Richmond, N. The University of Western Ontario (2016).
- Wang, Y., Yu, X., Chen, E. & Li, L. Liver-derived human mesenchymal stem cells: a novel therapeutic source for liver diseases. *Stem cell research & therapy* 7, 71 (2016).
- Ghazanfari, R., Li, H., Zacharaki, D., Lim, H.C. & Scheding, S. Human Nonhematopoietic CD271pos/CD140alow/neg Bone Marrow Stroma Cells Fulfill Stringent Stem Cell Criteria in Serial Transplantations. *Stem Cells Dev* (2016).
- 243. Liu, T.H., *et al.* Expression of the fetal hematopoiesis regulator FEV indicates leukemias of prenatal origin. *Leukemia* **31**, 1079-1086 (2017).
- 244. Loh, Y.-H., *et al.* The Oct4 and Nanog transcription network regulates pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Nature genetics* **38**, 431-440 (2006).
- 245. Luo, W., *et al.* Embryonic stem cells markers SOX2, OCT4 and Nanog expression and their correlations with epithelial-mesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *PLoS One* **8**, e56324 (2013).
- 246. Liu, A., Yu, X. & Liu, S. Pluripotency transcription factors and cancer stem cells: small genes make a big difference. *Chin J Cancer* **32**, 483-487 (2013).
- 247. Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* **126**, 663-676 (2006).
- 248. Imamura, M., *et al.* Transcriptional repression and DNA hypermethylation of a small set of ES cell marker genes in male germline stem cells. *BMC Dev Biol* **6**, 34 (2006).
- 249. Handgretinger, R., *et al.* Biology and plasticity of CD133+ hematopoietic stem cells. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **996**, 141-151 (2003).
- 250. Behnan, J., *et al.* Differential propagation of stroma and cancer stem cells dictates tumorigenesis and multipotency. *Oncogene* (2016).
- 251. Casamassimi, A., *et al.* Comparison between total endothelial progenitor cell isolation versus enriched Cd133+ culture. *Journal of biochemistry* **141**, 503-511 (2007).

- 253. Lin, F., Wang, N. & Zhang, T.C. The role of endothelial-mesenchymal transition in development and pathological process. *IUBMB life* **64**, 717-723 (2012).
- 254. Medici, D. & Kalluri, R. Endothelial-mesenchymal transition and its contribution to the emergence of stem cell phenotype. *Seminars in cancer biology* **22**, 379-384 (2012).
- 255. Zeisberg, E.M., Potenta, S., Xie, L., Zeisberg, M. & Kalluri, R. Discovery of endothelial to mesenchymal transition as a source for carcinoma-associated fibroblasts. *Cancer Res* **67**, 10123-10128 (2007).
- 256. Gupta, P.B., *et al.* Stochastic state transitions give rise to phenotypic equilibrium in populations of cancer cells. *Cell* **146**, 633-644 (2011).
- 257. Fessler, E., Borovski, T. & Medema, J.P. Endothelial cells induce cancer stem cell features in differentiated glioblastoma cells via bFGF. *Molecular cancer* **14**, 157 (2015).
- 258. Friedmann-Morvinski, D. & Verma, I.M. Dedifferentiation and reprogramming: origins of cancer stem cells. *EMBO reports*, e201338254 (2014).
- 259. Li, Y. & Laterra, J. Cancer stem cells: distinct entities or dynamically regulated phenotypes? *Cancer research* **72**, 576-580 (2012).
- 260. Chen, X., Liao, R., Li, D. & Sun, J. Induced cancer stem cells generated by radiochemotherapy and their therapeutic implications. *Oncotarget* **8**, 17301 (2017).
- 261. Mendelson, A. & Frenette, P.S. Hematopoietic stem cell niche maintenance during homeostasis and regeneration. *Nature medicine* **20**, 833-846 (2014).
- Sato, T., Selleri, C., Young, N. & Maciejewski, J.P. Hematopoietic inhibition by interferon-gamma is partially mediated through interferon regulatory factor-1. *Blood* 86, 3373-3380 (1995).
- 263. Kumano, K., *et al.* Notch1 inhibits differentiation of hematopoietic cells by sustaining GATA-2 expression. *Blood* **98**, 3283-3289 (2001).
- 264. Benveniste, P., *et al.* Intermediate-term hematopoietic stem cells with extended but time-limited reconstitution potential. *Cell Stem Cell* **6**, 48-58 (2010).
- 265. Kent, D.G., *et al.* Prospective isolation and molecular characterization of hematopoietic stem cells with durable self-renewal potential. *Blood* **113**, 6342-6350 (2009).

- 266. Zhong, J.F., *et al.* Gene expression profile of murine long-term reconstituting vs. short-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 2448-2453 (2005).
- 267. Yaguchi, A., *et al.* EP300-ZNF384 fusion gene product up-regulates GATA3 gene expression and induces hematopoietic stem cell gene expression signature in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Int J Hematol* (2017).
- 268. Chang, J., *et al.* Proliferative hemangiomas: analysis of cytokine gene expression and angiogenesis. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* **103**, 1-9 (1999).
- 269. Xu, D., *et al.* Isolation, characterization, and in vitro propagation of infantile hemangioma stem cells and an in vivo mouse model. *Journal of hematology & oncology* **4**, 54 (2011).
- 270. Smadja, D.M., Mulliken, J.B. & Bischoff, J. E-selectin mediates stem cell adhesion and formation of blood vessels in a murine model of infantile hemangioma. *The American journal of pathology* **181**, 2239-2247 (2012).
- 271. de Jong, S., Itinteang, T., Withers, A.H., Davis, P.F. & Tan, S.T. Does hypoxia play a role in infantile hemangioma? *Archives of dermatological research* **308**, 219-227 (2016).
- 272. Ricci-Vitiani, L., *et al.* Tumour vascularization via endothelial differentiation of glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Nature* **468**, 824-828 (2010).
- 273. Wurmser, A.E., *et al.* Cell fusion-independent differentiation of neural stem cells to the endothelial lineage. *Nature* **430**, 350-356 (2004).
- Hendrix, M.J., Seftor, E.A., Hess, A.R. & Seftor, R.E. Vasculogenic mimicry and tumour-cell plasticity: lessons from melanoma. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 3, 411-421 (2003).
- 275. Sood, A.K., *et al.* The clinical significance of tumor cell-lined vasculature in ovarian carcinoma: implications for anti-vasculogenic therapy. *Cancer biology & therapy* **1**, 661-664 (2002).
- 276. Wang, H., *et al.* Vasculogenic mimicry in prostate cancer: the roles of EphA2 and PI3K. *Journal of Cancer* **7**, 1114 (2016).
- 277. Hendrix, M.J., *et al.* Transendothelial function of human metastatic melanoma cells. *Cancer Research* **62**, 665-668 (2002).
- 278. Takebe, N., *et al.* Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nature reviews Clinical oncology* **12**, 445-464 (2015).

- 279. Kanz, D., Konantz, M., Alghisi, E., North, T.E. & Lengerke, C. Endothelial-tohematopoietic transition: notch-ing vessels into blood. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1370**, 97-108 (2016).
- 280. Lee, C.Y., *et al.* Notch signaling functions as a cell-fate switch between the endothelial and hematopoietic lineages. *Current Biology* **19**, 1616-1622 (2009).
- 281. Gerber, H.-P. & Ferrara, N. The role of VEGF in normal and neoplastic hematopoiesis. *Journal of molecular medicine* **81**, 20-31 (2003).
- 282. Carnero, A. & Lleonart, M. The hypoxic microenvironment: A determinant of cancer stem cell evolution. *BioEssays* **38**, S65-S74 (2016).
- Shweiki, D., Itin, A., Soffer, D. & Keshet, E. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature* 359(1992).
- Todorovich, S.M. & Khan, Z.A. Elevated T-box 2 in infantile hemangioma stem cells maintains an adipogenic differentiation-competent state. *Dermato-Endocrinology* 5, 352-357 (2013).
- 285. Caolo, V., Molin, D.G. & Post, M.J. Notch regulation of hematopoiesis, endothelial precursor cells, and blood vessel formation: orchestrating the vasculature. *Stem cells international* **2012**(2012).
- Wieland, E., *et al.* Endothelial Notch1 activity facilitates metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 31, 355-367 (2017).
- 287. Kumar, D., *et al.* Notch1-MAPK Signaling Axis Regulates CD133+ Cancer Stem Cell-Mediated Melanoma Growth and Angiogenesis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* **136**, 2462-2474 (2016).
- 288. Wu, J.K., *et al.* A switch in Notch gene expression parallels stem cell to endothelial transition in infantile hemangioma. *Angiogenesis* **13**, 15-23 (2010).
- 289. Calicchio, M.L., Collins, T. & Kozakewich, H.P. Identification of signaling systems in proliferating and involuting phase infantile hemangiomas by genome-wide transcriptional profiling. *The American journal of pathology* **174**, 1638-1649 (2009).
- 290. Stier, S., Cheng, T., Dombkowski, D., Carlesso, N. & Scadden, D.T. Notch1 activation increases hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal in vivo and favors lymphoid over myeloid lineage outcome. *Blood* **99**, 2369-2378 (2002).
- 291. Kumano, K., *et al.* Notch1 but not Notch2 is essential for generating hematopoietic stem cells from endothelial cells. *Immunity* **18**, 699-711 (2003).

292. Wu, J.K. & Kitajewski, J.K. A Potential Role for Notch Signaling in the Pathogenesis and Regulation of Hemangiomas. *The Journal of craniofacial surgery* **20**, 698-702 (2009).

Curriculum Vitae

NAME: Natalie Montwill

EDUCATION	
2014 - 2017	Western University, London, ON M.Sc. in Pathology and Laboratory Medicine
2009 - 2013	Guelph University, Guelph, ON B.Sc. in Bio-Medical Sciences, with Honours
HONORS & AWA	ARDS
2014 - 2017	Western Graduate Research Scholarship
2016	Dutkevich Award Ontario Institute of Regenerative Medicine (OIRM) Travel Award
2012	Hagen Undergraduate Scholarship Tony and Anne Arrell Scholarship
2009 - 2012	Queen Elizabeth II Aiming for the Top Scholarship Dean's Honor Roll
2011	College of Biological Sciences Dean's Scholarship
RELATED WORI	K EXPERIENCE
2015 - 2017	Graduate Teaching Assistant, Western University

2013	Graduate Research Assistant,	Guelph University

ABSTRACTS & PROFESSIONAL PRESENTATIONS

- 1. **Montwill NM** and Khan ZK. Defining the cellular origin of IH. Presented at Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Research Day, London ON, March 2017.
- 2. **Montwill NM** and Khan ZK. Defining the cellular origin of IH. Presented at London Health Research Day, London ON, March 2017.
- 3. **Montwill NM** and Khan ZK. Defining the cellular origin of IH. Presented at the Till & McCulloch Meeting, Whistler BC, October 2016.

- 4. **Montwill NM**, Pavlosky A, Kwok C, Su Y, Huang X, Zhang ZX and Jevnikar AM. Double-stranded RNA mediates microvascular endothelial cell death through toll-like receptor 3 following cardiac allograft transplantation. Presented at Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Research Day, London ON, April 2016.
- 5. **Montwill NM**, Pavlosky A, Kwok C, Su Y, Huang X, Zhang ZX and Jevnikar AM. Double-stranded RNA mediates microvascular endothelial cell death through toll-like receptor 3 following cardiac allograft transplantation. Presented at London Health Research Day, London ON, April 2016.
- 6. **Montwill NM**, Pavlosky A, Kwok C, Su Y, Huang X, Zhang ZX and Jevnikar AM. Iron-dependent ferroptosis mediates microvascular endothelial cell survival following cardiac allograft transplantation. Presented at the CNTRP Annual Meeting, Montebello QC, June 2015.
- 7. **Montwill NM**, Pavlosky A, Kwok C, Su Y, Huang X, Zhang ZX and Jevnikar AM. Iron-dependent ferroptosis mediates microvascular endothelial cell survival following cardiac allograft transplantation. Presented at Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Research Day, London ON, April 2015.
- 8. **Montwill NM**, Pavlosky A, Kwok C, Su Y, Huang X, Zhang ZX and Jevnikar AM. Iron-dependent ferroptosis mediates microvascular endothelial cell survival following cardiac allograft transplantation. Presented at London Health Research Day, London ON, April 2015.